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Cheryl L. Hussey 

Chief Financial Officer 
(518) 356-6185 

email: chussey@nyiso.com 

 

10 Krey Blvd., Rensselaer, NY  12144 

        
January 13, 2014 

 
VIA E-MAIL & OVERNIGHT MAIL  

David Pearsall 

People’s Power & Gas, LLC 

10150 Highland Manor Drive, 

Suite 200 

Tampa, FL 33610 

 

69 Bank Street 

New Milford, CT 06776 
 

Notice of Termination from the ISO-Administered Markets 
 

Dear Mr. Pearsall: 

This letter constitutes notice to People’s Power and Gas, LLC (“PPG”) that the NYISO intends to terminate, and 

hereby does terminate, PPG’s Prepayment Agreement and rights to participate in the ISO-Administered Markets 

as a result of PPG’s failure to cure its breach of the billing and payment provisions of the OATT, Services Tariff 

and the Prepayment Agreement within the one business day cure period prescribed by the NYISO’s tariffs.  This 

termination is effective immediately.  The NYISO is simultaneously delivering notice of PPG’s termination 

from the ISO-Administered Markets to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission in accordance with Section 

2.7.5.3 of the OATT and Section 7.5.3 of the Services Tariff. 

 

This action by the NYISO, insofar as it rests upon the OATT and the Services Tariff, is without prejudice to any 

of the NYISO’s other rights under applicable law, including its rights under the applicable provisions of the 

United States Bankruptcy Code.  Moreover, nothing herein shall constitute a modification or amendment of, or 

election of remedies with respect to, any of the NYISO’s rights or remedies under the OATT, the Services 

Tariff, or applicable law, all of which the NYISO hereby expressly reserves in their entirety. 

 

Please direct any inquiries regarding these matters to Sheri Prevratil, Corporate Credit Manager for the NYISO, 

at (518) 356-6174. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

Cheryl L. Hussey 

Chief Financial Officer 

 

cc: Mr. Stephen Whitley 

 Mr. Robert F. Fernandez 

 Ms. Sheri Prevratil 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

NORTHERN DIVISION

FOREST CAPITAL, LLC

v.

PEOPLE'S POWER & GAS, LLC,
ET AL.

Defendants
___________________________/

CIVIL CASE NO.
JFM-14-0156

Thursday, January 30, 2014
Baltimore, Maryland

Before: Honorable J. Frederick Motz, Judge

Appearances:

On Behalf of the Plaintiff:
Jeffrey A. Wurst, Esquire
Pierce C. Murphy, Esquire

On Behalf of the Defendants:
Andrew Radding, Esquire
Thomas E. L. Dewey, Esquire
Leslie J. Polt, Esquire

Also Present:
David Pearsall, Defendant

Reported by:
Mary M. Zajac, RPR, FCRR
Fourth Floor, U.S. Courthouse
101 West Lombard Street
Baltimore, Maryland 21201
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(Proceedings at 3:45 p.m.)

THE COURT: We're here in what I hope is going to be an

agreed disposition, but I'm not sure. This is JFM-14-156. I

picked up the wrong papers. Just state the name of the case.

THE CLERK: The matter now pending before this Court is

Civil Docket JFM-14-156, Forest Capital, LLC versus People's

Power & Gas LLC, et al.

THE COURT: Thank you. You all may be seated. Am I

correct that you have reached some kind of resolution?

MR. WURST: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And what is that resolution?

MR. WURST: If I may, let me note my appearance for

Your Honor. Ruskin Moscous Faltischeck, by Jeffrey A. Wurst.

I've been admitted pro hac vice to this court. With me today is

--

MR. MURPHY: Pierce Murphy, Your Honor.

MR. WURST: From the Leitess Friedberg firm, who is

serving as counsel.

We've spent a good deal of the day and yesterday

putting our heads together. We have an agreement that we will

formalize in a written stipulation, some of which, I guess, we're

all bending a bit. And I think to some extent, Your Honor, we're

asking the Court to bend a little, perhaps. As I go through, we

will see if -- specifically, that issue is we're contemplating

dismissing the case without prejudice. But there are some
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deliverables, a popular word of this millennium. And so we would

be asking the Court to retain jurisdiction over the settled case

and the dismissed case, should any need arise. We certainly hope

there won't be.

Also, in the event something happens down the road

because it's being dismissed without prejudice, that should it

come back to life, we would come back to life with this Court.

THE COURT: I'm just wondering whether it would be

easier to administratively close the case, and then that way I

have jurisdiction upon, and have it reopened upon notice of

either party. I'm just wondering whether that's an easier way to

do it.

MR. WURST: Judge, for things like that, and how this

court works, I am a stranger in the strange land, so I will do --

THE COURT: Well, this is a strange land.

MR. RADDING: Having lived in this strange land, I

think that probably works better.

THE COURT: If that's what you want. We can do it the

other way. I just think it makes it easier for you all.

MR. WURST: Okay. So what we do, then, bring a motion

to reopen the case.

THE COURT: You don't have to do that. Just give

notice. I'll just enter an order administratively closing the

case, subject to being reopened by notice of either party.

MR. WURST: We can work that in the stip. Let me get
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down to the substantive -- that was the tough issue. Thank you

for guiding us.

There are a couple of moving -- let me start with

BlackRock, which is, I guess, the party involved, brought us here

for preliminary injunction. The proceeds, there are presently

proceeds held in the BlackRock account. They are held for, as

security for the New England ISO. I forgot for the moment what

the acronym was for. The funds in that account, to the extent

they are not going to be utilized by the New England ISO, will be

paid over to Forest Capital for reduction of obligations from,

from PPG. And until such time as that account has been paid

over, they will arrange, PPG will arrange for Forest to have

online access to monitor that account.

The parties do not believe that there are any funds in

that account that would presently be owing to the New England

ISO. However, in the event New England ISO comes up with some

claim, we'll have to deal with that. But the intent is that if

there's anything owed, it should go to New England ISO. Any

funds thereafter would be paid only to Forest and not to PPG.

The case, as I indicated, will be dismissed without

prejudice. We are making --

THE COURT: Now it's going to be administratively

closed.

MR. WURST: Yes. Administratively closed. Make sure I

get that wording.
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THE COURT: Wait a second. Wait a second. There seems

like there's one other thing.

MR. DEWEY: Good afternoon, Your Honor. Tom Dewey for

BlackRock. Do you want to mention the attorney's fees provision?

MR. WURST: Yes. Thank you. Near and dear to our

hearts. The exception to those funds being paid over will be --

and I guess that falls into the exception of monies owed to New

England ISO -- up to $25,000 from that fund can be used to pay

New England ISO's cost and expenses in connection with these

proceedings.

MR. RADDING: BlackRock's.

MR. DEWEY: BlackRock's.

MR. WURST: BlackRock's. Okay. PP&G will give Forest

and the collection firm that was referenced in our papers,

University Management, they will have full access to their

systems, whether they're internal or external, whether they're

onsite or they're offsite, in order to obtain all information

needed to reconcile and connect the LIPA accounts, the term being

the defined term we used in our papers. That will include access

codes, user IDs, passwords. All of that information will be

turned over to Forest and University Management so they can

effectively collect the LIPA receivables.

Forest Capital will release its security interest in

invoices created from sales by PP&G dated on or after February 1,

2014. Very timely that we're here today.
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THE COURT: I gather that allows the company to stay in

business?

MR. WURST: That's right. It allows them to stay in

business and, hopefully, you know, resuscitate themselves.

Forest and PP&G will account to each other, Forest as funds are

received and paid, to pay down the credit facility. PP&G will

account to Forest for the funds that were withdrawn -- using a

neutral term -- withdrawn from BlackRock.

The Court will make no findings of fact or conclusions

of law. All parties are reserving all of their rights --

THE COURT: I'm certainly in favor of that.

MR. WURST: We didn't have to argue that for a long

time. The dismissal of the TRO and the withdrawal of the, of the

Motion for Preliminary Injunction and the withdrawal of the

underlying complaint are all being done, are all being made

without prejudice. We will submit a more formal stipulation

setting this forth.

Did I leave anything out?

MR. RADDING: Bear with me a second.

(Pause in proceedings.)

MR. WURST: The Delmarva, yeah. All proceeds in the

existing accounts at BlackRock -- we've only cited one account

specifically. We learned within the past hour or two that there

was a second small account. That account is still being used for

what I'll call a footprint that PPG continues to service. So
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we'll get that worked out in the language of the stip that will

be submitted.

THE COURT: Is that being turned over or not?

MR. WURST: The intent is to have those funds turned

over as well, yes, to the extent they are not utilized by --

THE COURT: New England.

MR. WURST: -- by PPG.

MR. RADDING: May I just walk back to my client for one

second, Your Honor?

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. WURST: Judge, while he's doing that --

THE COURT: No. No. Wait a second.

MR. WURST: I wasn't going on. It was more on a

personal level, expressing our appreciation to the Court. You

were very accommodating as we got this started.

THE COURT: That's what courts should be here for.

(Pause in proceedings.)

MR. RADDING: Just a slight tick to the wording, Your

Honor. Sorry.

THE COURT: That's fine. But you all can talk. You

all want to go back there?

(Pause in proceedings while the parties confer.)

MR. WURST: The point that I didn't think was

necessary, perhaps is, but it's better to have more on the record

than less. The intent is to take the existing account at
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BlackRock and effectively close it, and then have PPG open up a

new account for any new business they do. We don't know if, if

that's acceptable to the New England ISO. So although that's the

intent, if that cannot happen, then essentially what we're doing

is we are freezing whatever amount is in the account as of today,

and we will have to make our own book entry to separate any

monies that might come in after the entry of the stipulation.

But whatever amount is in, whatever the balance is

today is subject to this claim. Any new deposits that may go in

after the stip has been entered would be what we intended to go

into a different account.

THE COURT: I don't mean to be difficult, but I think

there's a missing day. Today's the 30th. And February 1st is --

MR. WURST: Then the intent is to have Forest release

its liens as of February 1, January 31.

THE COURT: So the monies will be frozen as of the

close of business tomorrow?

MR. WURST: Right. As of the close of tomorrow. I

think that's right. Nothing's going in between today and

tomorrow.

THE COURT: Is that right?

MR. WURST: That's right.

THE COURT: And I was responsible for a

miscommunication before. I think I heard you say Delmarva.

There was some, the smaller account of BlackRock. It's going to
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be turned over. And I said "New England" and I think you said

"PPG." So we'd better clarify that.

MR. WURST: Okay. There is a second account. It was

opened with respect to the ISO that is called PJN. We're told

there's about $66,000 in that account. I believe that is the ISO

that services Delaware, that services Delaware, a footprint they

continue to service. That 66 is intended for Forest. Forest

retains its interest. I don't want to use the word "lien." I'm

just going to say its interest. Whether it's going to be an

interest imposed by a security interest or whether it's by the

stipulation, those funds will ultimately come back to Forest to

the extent Forest is owed money.

It may not be releasable immediately. But if the

number comes down -- these are fluctuating numbers. As they need

more collateral for an ISO, they have to put money in. As they

need less collateral, there's money refunded. Any money refunded

will come directly to Forest. But we're also going to freeze

that $66,000 amount, or whatever it is, as the number that Forest

has an interest in.

THE COURT: Mr. Radding and Mr. Dewey, is that all

acceptable?

MR. RADDING: Yes, certainly, Your Honor. Then I'm

going to turn it over to Mr. Dewey. Just one thing.

I think, and I may have heard wrong, I think counsel

said "withdrawal of the complaint." I think he meant to say
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"dismissal of the complaint without prejudice."

THE COURT: I really think that all, if I close the

case, administratively close the case, nobody has to withdraw

anything. That's all there.

MR. RADDING: Okay. And the TRO will die of its own

weight?

THE COURT: The TRO, frankly, was never signed.

MR. RADDING: Well, that's good.

MR. WURST: It was, Judge. It took a few days, but we

did get it the other day.

MR. RADDING: But it wasn't signed.

THE COURT: No, I should say that. There actually is

no -- I was worried about that. But when I realized, when I

tried to, we were close enough to today, we'd work it out.

In any event, the case is administratively closed.

Everything is still on the record, but nothing's being pursued

until or unless somebody files a notice.

MR. RADDING: So there is nothing pending.

THE COURT: There is no pending TRO. That's nothing

pending.

MR. RADDING: No pending motion for preliminary --

THE COURT: I probably will X out, what I will do is X

out the motions. I need that for my own recordkeeping and for

you, too. I will just X out -- the complaint is there but I'll X

out the motion for TRO and the motion for preliminary injunction.
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MR. RADDING: For business purposes, then, maybe I want

to rethink what we said earlier.

THE COURT: That's fine with me. Dismiss it.

MR. RADDING: For business purposes, it would be

helpful to us to have the complaint dismissed without prejudice.

THE COURT: That's fine.

MR. RADDING: So we'll go with our original agreement.

MR. WURST: Yeah. That will be contained in the stip.

THE COURT: Okay. Then just file a motion -- whatever.

When the time comes, if necessary, I'll retain jurisdiction. I

understand that.

MR. RADDING: So we will have the Motion to Dismiss

without prejudice. Do we need to move to dismiss the TRO?

THE COURT: No. I will simply, I'm going back right

now and dictating an order saying, As stated on the record today,

it is the 30th day of January, 2014, ordered this action is

dismissed without prejudice.

MR. RADDING: Thank you. And the TRO is dead, as is

the motion --

THE COURT: The TRO never became alive.

MR. RADDING: -- for preliminary injunction? Thank

you.

MR. WURST: Judge, if I may be heard. Just to perhaps

refresh your recollection. I have a copy of Document 16 in this

case, which appears to me to have Your Honor's signature and the

Case 1:14-cv-00156-JFM   Document 24   Filed 02/05/14   Page 11 of 15



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

12

stamp from the clerk.

THE COURT: Maybe I did sign it.

MR. WURST: Excuse me?

THE COURT: Maybe I did sign it. Is that the TRO?

MR. WURST: Should I hand it up?

THE COURT: If I signed it, I signed it. I might have.

Maybe I'm wrong. Mr. Murphy, were you the one that got me to

focus my attention on this the day after the snowstorm?

MR. MURPHY: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Congratulations.

MR. RADDING: At this point, can the Court enter an

order dismissing it?

THE COURT: I've got to go back and dictate it. But I

am going to dictate, as soon as I go back, I'm going to dictate

an order saying, As stated on the record today, it is the 30th

day of January, 2014, new paragraph, ordered this action's

dismissed without prejudice.

MR. WURST: Excuse me. Is it possible to do it this

way, because we are submitting a stipulation? Could this all be

effective as part of that stipulation?

THE COURT: Sure. I'll do whatever you like.

MR. WURST: I think that makes more sense. Put it all

in one place.

MR. RADDING: Except he wants to do other business.

That dismissal, there's no reason not to have it. And it will be
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part of the stipulation as well. If the Court's willing to

dismiss it, let's dismiss it. It doesn't prejudice you.

MR. WURST: I take it that --

THE COURT: It's your case.

MR. WURST: Hopefully, it will be a prior case soon.

I suppose we could live that way as long as all

parties, including the principals that are in the room, will

represent to the Court that they will abide by the intent of

this. And, you know, if the TRO is released today, and funds,

and the stip is not entered until later, no funds are going to be

moving, contrary to the intent of what took place on the record.

MR. RADDING: My client is here. He's nodding his

assent, Your Honor. That's Mr. Pearsall.

THE COURT: Mr. Pearsall, do you agree with that?

MR. PEARSALL: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Then I'll go dictate the order.

MR. DEWEY: If I may, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. DEWEY: Just to clarify one point. My

understanding is that ISO NE believes it has an interest in this

account, and there's going to be a process whereby ISO NE and

Pearsall and PPG do a true-up. Whatever is owed to ISO NE flows

to ISO NE, and whatever remains goes to Forest Capital.

THE COURT: Are they represented by somebody?

MR. DEWEY: They're not, Your Honor. They're not a
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party to the case.

THE COURT: I know they're not. That doesn't mean

they're not represented.

MR. DEWEY: Just so that's clear, that my understanding

on that is correct.

MR. WURST: That's our understanding. Of course, if

there are funds that, that they claim an interest in that are

there now, then we may have more to talk about.

THE COURT: My understanding, BlackRock has always been

nothing more than a stakeholder.

MR. DEWEY: Exactly right, Your Honor. We just want to

be clear on what's going to happen.

THE COURT: I mean, I think that's clear from the

original --

MR. DEWEY: Very good. Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you. So I'm going to enter the

order, but you all live with the stipulation.

(Conclusion of Proceedings at 4:03 p.m.)
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REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE

I, Mary M. Zajac, do hereby certify that I recorded

stenographically the proceedings in the matter of Forest Capital

LLC v. PP&G, LLC, et al., Case Number(s) JFM-14-156, on January

30, 2014.

I further certify that the foregoing pages constitute

the official transcript of proceedings as transcribed by me to

the within matter in a complete and accurate manner.

In Witness Whereof, I have hereunto affixed my

signature this _________ day of __________________, 2014.

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                
Mary M. Zajac,
Official Court Reporter
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March 4, 2014 

 

People’s Power & Gas 
69 Bank Street 
New Milford, CT 06776  

Attn: David Pearsall 

Our auditors, Stout, Causey & Horning, P.A, are conducting an audit of our financial statements. Please confirm 
directly to them the amount of your note(s) held by us at December 31, 2013, shown by our records as follows:  

 

Date of Note  Due Date   

Unpaid 
Principal @ 
12/31/2013 

Annual 
Interest 

Rate  
Date Interest 
Was Paid to  

Description 
of Collateral 

May 21, 2012  
N/A 

Revolving   $3,507,209 20.25%  
Dec. 31, 
2013  

     Money on 
Deposit & 
Reserves 

 

Please state in the space below whether the above information is in agreement with your records. If it is not, please 
furnish any information you may have that will assist our auditors in reconciling the difference. 

 

Please reply directly to: 
email: cstrucko@scandh.com 
fax: (410) 403-1556 
mail: Stout, Causey & Horning, P.A., 910 Ridgebrook Rd, Sparks, MD 21152, Attn: Christie Strucko 
 
 

Very truly yours, 

 

John Fox 
President 

Forest Capital, LLC 

 

 

 

To: Stout, Causey & Horning, P.A. 

The above information regarding our note(s) payable to Forest Capital, LLC agrees with our records at December 
31, 2013 with the following exceptions (if any): 

  
  
  
   

 



 

 

Signature:    
 
Title:    
 
Date:    

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

















 

 



 



 



A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION
ATTORNEYS AT LAW

COHNIBIRNBAUMISHEA

HARTFORD . NEW YORK

lOO PEARL STREET

HARTFORD, CONNECTICUT O6IO3-45OO
TELEPHoNE 860. 493 . 22Oo
FACSIMILE ê6,0 .727 , 036l

Sharon P. Churchill
schurch ill @cbshealaw.com

April23,2014

Via U,S. mail and electronic mail Awurst@,rmfpc.com)
Jeffrey A. Wurst, Esq.

Ruskin Moscou Faltischek P.C.
East Tower, 15th Floor
1425 RXR Plaza
Uniondale, NY 1 I 556-1425

Re: People's Power & Gas, LlClForest Capital LLC

Dear Jeff:

As you know, this firm represents People's Power & Gas, LLC ("People's Power"). I refer to

your letter dated April 14,2Ol4 (the "Letter") alleging that People's Power has been attempting to collect

accounts receivable for energy sold and delivered prior to February I,201.4 (the "Accounts"), including

billing or re-billing for services, compromising or settling claims, and accepting payment for those

accounts, and demanding that People's Power cease and desist any such efforts. Ilr the Letter, you further

demand that People's Power provide an accounting of all such collections, returned invoices, funds

disbursed from the BlackRock Account, and access to People's Power customer relations management

system, specifically the SugarCRM system. I address each of these in turn below.

1. Collections of Accounts. People's Power is not making any efforts to collect Accounts. Former

customers have called People's Power requesting to make payment. All payments received by People's

Power from such individual customers (a total of six (6) payments totaling 5666.23) have been forwarded

to University Management & Consultants Corp. ("UMAC"), as People's Power had been previously

advised by Forest Capital LLC ("Forest") that UMAC was the proper collection agent for Forest, as

reinforced in Paragraph 5 of the February 21, 2Ol4 Stipulation and Order of Settlement entered into with
respect to Case No. 14-CV-00156 (the "stipulation"). Copies of the electronic mail communications with
UMAC with respect to these payments are enclosed. In the event People's Power receives any additional

communications or payments from former customets, kindly furnish the proper contact information for
forwarding any collections or inquiries.

2. Accounting of Collections. The enclosed copies referenced in the previous paragraph are a

complete accounting of all collections with respect to Accounts to date. As discussed, all such amounts

have been previously remitted to UMAC as Forest's agent, As to your demand for invoices returned to

People's Power which have been dropped from direct utility invoicing or collection efforts, please be

advised that People's Power is not aware of any such invoice returns, however, it is our understanding

that any such retums would be posted on the EClnfosystems account for People's Power, to which Forest

has complete access.. Given that People's Power has at best a skeleton staff, it does not have the

resources to research and furnish the requested documentation.
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3. BlackRock Accounting. I must correct your assertion in the Letter that due demand was made for

an accounting of all funds disbursed to People's Power from the BlackRock account on and after

December l,-20I3. At no time did Forest or any representative on behalf of Forest make such demand,

and People's Power has never refused to provide such an accounting. Nevertheless, enclosed please find

the requested accounting.

4. Access to Customer Relations Management Systems. In the Letter, you allege that People's

Power has failed or refused to provide Forest with access to its customer relations management systems,

including, the SugarCRM system, People's Power has previously furnished Forest with complete access

to its customeÍ management electronic data information systems, including Freshbooks and

EC¡rfosystems, Inc. ("EDI Systems"). A representative of Forest spent a full week in the People's Power

offices, with complete access to all of the company's EDI Systems, with several employees of People's

Power dedicated io providing assistance, and was provided copies, in paper form and on a data drive, of
all documents and data such representative requested. Please be advised that the SugarCRM system is

used for employee communications and marketing purposes, and is not, in whole or in part, a customer

relations management system.

5. Access to FactorFox. As you ale aware,Forest is obligated to give People's Power read only

access to its account through Forest's online FactorFox system and a copy ofits internally prepared

accounting of People's Power's account status, including payment and collections of People's Power's

accounts receivable and other proceeds. Notwithstanding this ongoing obligation, People's Power does

not have access to any of this information, which appears to have been deleted from the Factor Fox

system (see enclosed screen shot). People's Power hereby demands that Forest provide it with immediate

access to FactorFox and an accurate and true accounting of all amounts outstanding and all collections

with respect to the Accounts and all amounts received from BlackRock.

6, Accountins of Amounts Outstanding. People's Power has made several requests to Forest for the

p.rrpor. of t"**iling the amounts owed to Forest and collected to date, to no avail' As of December 31,

)0f3, bas"d upon the audit request letter sent to People's Power from John Fox, president of Forest

(enclosed), thå total amount outstanding was $3,507,209. January advances to People's Power from

Èorest totaled $108,419.95, for a total outstanding amount equal to $3,615,803'2I' At some point, Forest

will have received collections in excess of amount s owed by People's Power. Please provide, or cause

Forest to provide, the necessary data in order for the parties to reconcile these amounts.

7. Former Emplovees. People's Power is aware that Forest has engaged three former employees,

Frank DeBellis, Besnik Islami, utrd Eil."n Routhier, who held positions of senior management with

People's Power, Please be advised that each of Mr. DeBellis, Mr. Islami, and Ms. Routhier are subject to

Confidentiality, Non-Compete, and Non-Piracy Agreements that place significant rèstrictions on, among

other things, disclosure of any Confidential Information (as defined in such agreements), and

disparageirent of People's Power or its officers, ownets, employees, or agents. We are curious about the

"r.ãrr"ou, 
advice you received regarding collections, and about the erroneous allegations that the

SugarCRM system was used for customer relations management. It would appear that Forest would only

have access to such inaccurate information through either Mr. DeBellis, Mr. Islami, or Ms. Routhier.

People's Power hereby cautions Forest that it will also hold Forest responsible with respect to any

impioper disclosures úy either Mr. DeBellis, Mr. Islami, or Ms. Routhier. Please be so advised and act

SPC/I69582v1 50139-100
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accordingly. A copy of Mr. DeBellis' agreement is enclosed. The other agreements are substantially

similar

People's Power did not breach any of its covenants or agreements set forth in the Stipulation.

Please do not hesitate to contact me to discuss this maltet further.

Very truly yours,

e*,{b,ùr/f4
Sharon P. Churchill

Enclosure
cc: Mr. David Pearsall (via electronic mail)

Leslie Polt, Esq.

SPC/1 69582v1 501 39-100



Þoris Olsen

From:
Sent:
To:
Cc;
Subject:

Follow Up Flag:
Flag Stâtus:

Best

Doris Ofsen

People's Power & Gas

DS isk < ÐSisk@umacnj,com >

Wednesday, March 05,2AL4 2:05 PM

Doris Olsen; Paul Rome

David Pearsall

Peoples Power & Gas - Bayvíew Nursing Rehab

Foflow up
Flagged

Doris,

I see this check/ amount appearing today in Freshbooks. Are you truly sending the check to our attention?

Don Sisk

UniversÍty Management Associates & Çonsultants Corp.

43 Newburgh Rd, Ste 4028
PO Box 913
Hackettstown, NJ 07840-0913
Ph 908-979'9007 Ext 3L2
Fx 908-979-0046

Use of email is inherently insecure. Confidential information, includíng banking ínformation and personally identifiable
information, should not be transmitted via email, or email attachment. Jn no event shall University Managernent
Associates & Consultants Corporation âccept any responsibílity for the loss, use or misuse of any information including
confìdential irrformation, which is sent to University Management Associates & Consultants Corporation or that
University Management Associates & Consultants Corporation will respond to any emaí1.

This emaíl message is confidential and/or prlvileged. lt is to be used by the intended recipient only. Use of the
information contained ín thís email by anyone other than the intended recipient is strictly prohibited. lf you have
received this rnessage in error, please notify the sender immediately and promptly destroy any record of this e-mai[,

From: Doris Olsen lmailto: DOlsen@peoplespower.com]
Sent: Wednesday, March 05, 2014 2t02 PM
To: ÐSisk; Pauf Rome
Cc: David Pearsalf
Subjectl Bayview Nursing RehaE- 

-

Dpn;

received a check payment from the above account this morning.
The payment amount is $¡S.¿g; check$5317, We will mail the check to today

1



Þoris Olsen

From:
Senf:
TO:

Subjectr

Don,
Received a payment from a ut¡libilcustomer:
Edith Garclner; check#10841-; 540.19.
Willmailit today, d.

Doris Olsen
Motlrcr Earth
MadstarMobile.com
8 55.MAD STAR (8 55.623 ;7 827)

Mother earfh keeps us all grounded and in an effort of peace and har-mony. The Earth is protected from solar
draws us all in and protects us. Ëarth is the only planet
unique we are, Tlris lovely planet's Eame comes from
can grolfl.

Thís e-mail, includlng any files or attachrhents trãn$mitted with ¡t, is Eonfidential and/or proprietary and is intended for a speclflc
purpo$e and for use only by the individual or entity tö whom it is addressed. Any disclosure, cnpying or distributlon of thls e.mail or the
tãking of any actlon based on its contËnts, other than fo¡, its intended purpos€, is str¡ctlv prohibited. lf you have received thl¡ e-mail tn
error, please notify the sender immediately and delete h from you r system, Any views or opinions expresied in this e-rnall are not
necessarily tho$e of People's Powar & Gas, LLC, its affìliates or subsidiaries. E-ma¡l trânsmission c¿nnot be guaranteed to be er¡or-free or
se¿ufe or free from viruses, and PPG d¡$ilalms all liab¡líly fur äny resulting dämage, êrrors, or omíss¡ons.

A thotrglrtful reminder to Frìnt only if necessary ln ãn offort to reduce your carbon footprint fol the environment.

Doris Olsen
Monday, March 3L,2OL4 1;46 PM

'DSisk'

Fonruarding ä Pâyment

1
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DorÍs Ofsen

¡ot
Subjecß

DSisk

customer pâyments

Don,

l have some payments to send you on the following accounts:

1) Editlr Gardner {utilibll}; $50.00 check#10832 *partial payment

2l Byron Clrou; $193,00 check#535?

3l Mett¡e Cooper {utilibll}; 5173.10 cc payment

Best,

Doris Olsen

PeoplesPower.com
ENERGY REINVENTED "

L



EDITH GARDNER
6HOBSON SIREEÎ
LUEEC, ME 0a631
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PLEASE PIOST TÌIIS PAYXETÎ ÉÞR ü'R XUTUAL CUSTOMER

6053{1 $193.00
Please D¡rect Any Oueslions To

Online Bitl Payment Processing Center
(800) 343-2508BYRON CHOU

4 MARGARET LN
HUNlII{GTON. NY 11743.2825

UMÊ, iIA

PayQl!$ t!U!lD:R EL!!!N EllL THREE

rh¡¡l¡ll¡ll¡¡lllllhll¡h,l¡llll¡rll¡,tl,rll¡llr'¡hrlllllilhlr
tlmrAB0.lü Aoc lm
>11081 Eð3¿57S 001 0S0005 0800I/00801
PEOPLE'S POWER AND GAS
69 BANK ST
NEW M|LFORD, CT 06776-2701

___ DOtUnns

$ .tl**ir193.00

TO
THE
ORDER
OF

Void After 180 DAYS.

Signature On File
This check has been authorized

by your depositor

r'OO535ln' r: IO I tO 5Ê8 t¡! ? ?BO StOt 5 ?Ê98'r'



Use

fnfomral¡on

l(ey:
ïyper

:ü¿îó6õ I .*:yfEJ¡ Ssrylce Losa,tions

q(llltv Acaoullt rlietÊ( Gommodlu Lgcailon Name

[qrriot*s-9.ggf":.-' I srarusi Þmp]ïi,t

.Såätuå (.$!¡¡1y

C6ntra¡ Malnê
'Droppëd Pôwer

lFr€e

vr

icooe,L'ñ rvir:ri¡Lg-------- 
.,._ ----__ *l ü c¡t¡car roa¿

L_ - __t_
1'neig.e4Ë.t . . rrt Ctaser . çj

Croat¿d
Datc! lätißizóis 

cohtrâêt Expiratlon 
I

0eæ01769ü09q4 G053012886 Electdô
* Fllflng

re4 sïEfsoN RD E

LEVANT
r Contrct lnforma(on

Contact ño PrelerEnre

Phonp:

I 
Setlfnsâ

u' Aeaogg LatÐ Chargê

LatE charge fâta' h:Ëóo{i
'DayE utttll duer

â Tares

On Ellls

lax sêltings üJ

''r TranellAuthor¡ty Tex

Taxable Portlon of Servlce ;

Prlmary $alesperson

ttÐmot Enefoy

Comm¡sslon: 0,00000000

UOM¡
8Ên¡¡cë

Addrs8l8
COOPER METTIE 194 STÉTSON RD E - LEVANT, MËM 04458 .URR

Maine

Homê Phonó:

llJlohllË PhonelPhonc:

il:
. Ellllhg lnformatlon

*tetlou: [-stãncaø ¡?ffitrhÐ+r
. Bllling Cycle

@on Damand

ODay tr' '/ of ey€rymonth

Ome '''.' / rì..¡.r L of €ygtymonth
Nexl schedulêd b¡ltng ls Wednosday, JAnuary ZZ, 2014

_l

. lnrÆlce Sötltngs . . 
_. ._. _

i Meesaga:f-"tt
^ Late Chergsr

_... I ì[ lclear¡fterFrtntlng

râ

?À

orarge optronr þËFåõiiì-ate i¡'gEg$Ig_si v i

Jurredtcton: flÈi/Äñi¡'Ëiãñö'B-sèó1i MË !å;ïi¿-iii 
".WJ 

Gurrent Râre: 0.o6so0

Uæ thls Judadlctlon for all Service Losaltone

'r'CountyTår( r,'StateÎât
v' $flcjalOietrictTat r/ Gro3FRêcstpts Tax'/ OtherTax

¡1000000 %

0.00000000

Uollrl: olo Of
Seruice

http://uti tibill3.eccircle. com/customer/cusMain, aspx?rid: I 7236&ss= I 3/28/2014



. !,

i l\-; Js. -L >..-'.t "v.+... {e i.. rt,..it

'. -Jr-*i¿

..\r-:.> tèeç i (.. +,\-{-*,
t)t,\Nt.:s t,(x'Kli
:.l5 rlstt't-H I
S(',\ l( IK)R(X lGl'l lvflì

ll¿lËç-{l!llír!-tl0j -

i

sctririty Srryply Peoples Power & Gas LLC

Your uccount fi
tsilling Date:
Ithuuc:
f ltrurs:

1304,080030
12102il3
855-857-6937

Etectricity Supply Account l)r"1ai I

Your electriciry is supplied by:
Pcoples Powcr & Gas LLC
Prior l¡¡l¡nce fm Ptogles Po*er & Ges l,l{'tlctlrit'i:¡

Paymenls tecrivcd - thalrl yrx
ßelnÐre forwrrd
('ürrÈìt a¡Ë lricil¡ rupply chrrg:s

PPNüV(.l { I ln I'13-l lÈltlir
PPì¡GVC1

'fotal currr¡t rlectricily supply chrrgcs
fcoph.r Puwtr & G¡s l.I.(l'rccor¡Bl b¡hme

$1.¡t..,t,
rj t.l,' . .t.l

$ l'¡r¡. ?8

I l:ü¡ll U J.l 'r'¡.i i;[: . t]u +

&-

Messages about your lleoples ltower & ûas LLC clcctrieit¡'supp
Crntnrt Mai¡re Porver provides billing scrviccs lìrr'1'rrur clcctricit¡' su¡¡rlicr. Supply pn¡rmcrt[s ¡trç lirrrt'iudcd on your hchall
rn acccrdancc \riù úd Mairre Public Utiliticr' (ir¡rr¡¡¡ir-riorr (!t'lPl I(') rqh-'s. t,lrf !1b

DIANA S, LOCKE
16 LIOUSÂM R¡DG E ROÂD 2Ã7 Â}1.Ð93
KENNËBUNK,\IIì GIGIÍI

ri
"-,UH/¡tf

*T4t'tl211z 4?1 6

tt ,l
I

OF

f
I
L
$
I
+

o.ër.l $ l''lv ?r("

51?5 . ?8

r:¡lI¡?¡,5?lr: ÈOL ûtüLJ8 I'r' L¿?Ê



People's Power & Gas LLC

Date

t2/1,L/2OL3*
Ll8/2014*
L/13/201,4

Llts/2ot4
.Total Deposits

L2/11./201,3

L/8l2ot4
Total Payments to Forest

BlackRock Redemptions LzlLl2Ot3 - tl3tl2Ot4
Amount Pavor

s225,000.00 NE-lso

S525,ooo.oo NE-tso

S75o,ooo.oo NE-tso

5300,000.00 NE-lso

5L,800,000.00

*Redemptions from PP&G BlackRock Account paid directly to Forest Capital

! ..,/

':-f;-'
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.: t -
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People's Power & Gas LLC

Date

12/2/2013
12/2/2013
1214/2013
72/6/201,3

12/6/201.3

L2/tL/2Ot3
L2/LL/2013
12/12/2Ot3
L2/12/2013
L2/13/2013
t2/131201,3

12/ts/2oL3
12/24/20L3
12/26/20L3
1.2/26/20L3
t2/2612013
t2/3012013
12/30l2Ot3
1./2/2074
tl3/201.4
Ll6/201.4

Ll8/20t4

1/,Ó/zor+
1./73/2074

tl14/2014
r/tsl20L4
rlts/2014
rlts/2014
ut7l2ot4
!¡.r] /zot+
u7zl201.4
Ll.1.,8;/2074

LILá/201.4

ilíe/zor¿
1.1t8/2OL4

1.1t8/201.4

tlt8/201.4
tlt8/2014
1./20/2Ot4
1./22/2014
1,/23/201,4

Ll23/2074
1,/30/201.4

rl30/2oL4
Total payments

pAyM ENTS OVER s1,000 MADE t2l t I 2Ot3 to t | 3tl 2Ot4

Amount Pavee

Stg,ooo.¿o Payroll

55,196.00 CT sales tax

51,318,00 Contivio-phone

$2,464,36 Charter Communications-cable

510,000.00 Law office-Fredrick Eisenbud-legal

S2oo,ooo.oo tso-NY

531,546.20 Ecinfosystems-EDl

S+t,gog.gz Payroll

510,744.64 Stagg Terenzi-legal

STo,ooo.oo tso-NE

s3,390.88 |SO-NY

57,125.00 Rent

515,479.02 Payroll

541,554.00 Payroll

5L,500.00 Payroll

57,774.62 CT withholding tax

51,006.23 Payroll(final check)

51,16L.9L Payroll(finalcheck)

S5,o+t.00 CT sales tax

5L,328.76 Payroll

51,274.93 Doubletree

$1,668.00 Contivio-phone

529,610.90 Payroll

STo,ooo.oo tso-NY

515,000.00 Murtha Cullina-legal

517,606,50 payrolltaxes-federal

s223,850.49 ISO-NE

$36,200.00 PJM

561,336.66 PJM

550,000.00 cohn,Birnbaum & Shea-legal

51.,232.t8 Charter Communications-cable

$z,tzs.oo Rent

55,000.00 Morningstar-Energy information software

52,362.00 Safeco lnsurance-Property insurance

56,000.00 Citron Cooperman-audited financials

54,861.25 EVO-merchant services(credit card transactions)

55,212.99 Stagg Terenzi-legal

52,1,45.90 CSC-registered agent

51,321.08 Bantam Fuel

$1,o7z.oo Jet Blue

535,116.00 Payroll

Si.,4oo,oo PJM

51,000.00 PayrollAdvance to E. Routhier(made by E Routhier)

Si.0,000.00 ADELBERG, RUDow, DoRF & HENDLER, LLC-Legal

5L,o67,43o.82
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March 4,2014

People's Power & Gas
69 Bank Street
New Milford, CT 06776

Attn: Jennifer Collins

Our auditors, Stout, Causey & Horning, P.A, are conducting an audit of our financial statements. Please confirm

directly to them the amount of your note(s) held by us at December 31 ,2013, shown by our records as follows:

Date of Note Due Date

N/A
Revolving

Unpaid
Principal@
12t31t20',|3

Annual
lntgrest

Rate
Date lnterest
Was Paid to

Dec.31,
2013

Description
of Collateral
Money on
Deposit &
ReservesMay 21,2012 $3,507,209 20.25%

please state in the space below whether the above information is in agreement with your records. lf it is not,

please furnish any information you may have that will assist our auditors in reconciling the difference.

Please reply directly to:
email: cstrucko@scandh.com
fax: (410) 403-1556
mail:'Stout, Causey & Horning, P.4.,910 Ridgebrook Rd, Sparks, MD21152, Attn: Christie Strucko

Very truly yours,

John Fox
President

Forest Capital, LLC

To: Stout, Causey & Horning, P.A.

The above information regarding our note(s) payable to Forest Capital, LLC agrees with our records at December

31,2013 with the following exceptions (if any):
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EMPLOYMENT CONÐTIIONS

Co¡I$ÍIDENTIÄLIÏY,NoN-coMPETE,^ûrfl)NoN-PIR.â.CYAGREEMENT

,l'ù 13
TtrS AGREÏMENT, mado æ day of A r¿_ ÐlL,by arrd bÊttrysen

laut¿ lví4Éthç
("ËmploYed'), andPEOPLE'S POWER & GAS a.

with au address at
its

principal office at 69 Bank Sceet, New Milford' Connecticut 0677 6 (tlre "CornpanY ").

IITTNES$ETH:

employ Employeg and Employee desires to be so

e ttreruw¡tt¡, tire Employee shall actively particÏpde in the

b

WffiREAS, as a result of such partioipation, Empþee shall have access to confidential

information, teclrnolory, tuado secrels, 
"usto*". 

lisb, aod ofller propríetary irrfOrmation ofthe ComPany;

and

wEDRtr,AS, Employeo fl'rd the company agr€e that the agreements Bnd covonants contained

herein aro nqcessÍlfy and éssántial to pratect the ongoÍng bUsiness of the Company; and

wHERSAsn in connection rvith Emptoyee's employment by the compan¡ Emplolæe may

develop products, procssses, invsntio¡ls, or contepts for the benefitOfttre Çompany; and

WIIEREAS, it is a condition of Employee's employment by the comparrythal Ernployee enter

into this Agrcemeng

NOW, THEREIi'ORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good_a¡rd valuable

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, tho parties hcreto ägree arl

follows:

I - Considgfgtion- f.n consideration for the covenânts ofEmployee set fortb herein and oÎ¡rer

good andvaluabiãõrui¿eration, the Company shall offer employment to Employee'

2. Restrigtivie CayÊuaotr

for

techniqueg, client or customer lists, detaíls of client or cus

pãfi"¡"1, 
"ptt"ional 

methods, or mark€ting plans or sffiegies (collectively, "confide,fltisl l¡fürmation").

1
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or otherw¡sÊ relâting to Confidential lrrformation.
properry related to the business ofthe Company is
rigbts tlrerein.

of

rhs

court action i I violate tt¡e resh.ctions confâined i

during which l;,H:","f"1ñ;ii:i,;å.JJîlåil;;
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Iengthened by a period of t¡me equal to the period between tÍe d¡te on rvhich the violation comrnenced
and the date on rvhich the violation was snjoind ot otherwïsc ended.

3, Owner-shíp of luventions. The Employee acknowledges and ag¡Ees thaf ¿ll concepts,
inventions, processes, or products, whetber patentable or not, developed, made, or created by Employee,
whetlrcr individually orjointly with others, during tbe course of Employee"s emplo¡ane,nt with the
Compan¡ shall be the propely of the Compaty, and Employee bereby agüees to disclose and assigrr an1,
and all suoh concepts, inventíons, processes, or products to the Company. This provision and the
obliptions sef forth herein shall survive the termination of Ernployee's emplo¡rment witù the Company.

+. EmploveeAclq$owledeementsandReprÊqenq4tjgns

a- The Employee acknowledges fh¿t the Company's business is conduoted in
markots throughout the United States and tha! in the course of performing Employee's responsibilities
and duties pursuantto ll obtaín knorvledge of,, information reiating to, and
rvill develop attìe Co Info¡rnation rvhic[ üdisctosed to competitors oft]re
Compan¡ would caus pany- The Employeetherefore acknowiedges ths
Company's legÍtimate need to prevÊDt disclosure a¡¡d rrse of Co¡fidential Infonnation and t$at, but for the
covenants of the Employee set forflr herein, flre Company would not be willìng to enter into ttris
A.greement.

b- Tho Employee asknowledges aud agrees ürat the Rcsuictive Covenants are
¡tasonable and valid in geographíc and temponal scope and ín all other Éspects. The Company and the
lmployee fu¡tler ac.knowledge and agreo thar if any court determines tùat any ofthe Restrictive
Covenants, or any part thereof, is invalid or uneoforceable for any rear¡on, that it is clearly thç intent ofthe
parties that the remainder ofthe Resriqive Covena¡ts and parts thereof shatl not thereby be affected and
shall be giverr,ñrll effect, withour regard to the ínvalid portions, No provision herçin shall bE dependent
upon the validityof any otherprovisíon.

c- Employec agre Ës a¡rd acknowledges that a violation of the provisions of
ployee shall reparable damages, inoluding the
lity to prOve thenecessity ttræt¡e Company
employees c a¡¡d extent of Employee's vìolatÍone.

Ernployee ftrtùer ackno*].dæu tlrat Empfoyee is hereþy estopped froru subseq*ntty asserting in any
attion to snforce the provisions ofthis Paragraph that the Company has an adequate ramedy ailaw and is
not entitled to injunctive relief.

d. alcohol and drug-free workplace forall employees.
The use, sale distribut f alcohol orillegal sub,star¡ses on Company
premises, gr rcporting lcohol or drugi, is sbictþ forbidden-'Employee
acknowJedges and agrees that the Company shall have the right to coirduct random drug and alcohol tese
at any tímo duríng t}e c9ur.ry_of Enployeo's employment by the Cornpany, and that the-failure of uny
suoh test wíll rcsult in disclplina4y actiorL up to and including discharge-

sPC/¡5l39tyl 49802-100 
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e. lhe Ernployee acknowledges that the Comparry mûy film and/or record, or ceuse
to be filmed and/or rÞcorded, work or other activities of the Employee is con¡rection with tbe Emp¡oyee's
employrnent by the Compar-ry. Tlre Employee hereby consents to being so filmed and/or rocorded and
hereby releases any claim or rights the Employee may have io any such filmed or recorded material, and
further consenls to flre use and distribution of any such filrned or rccorded maferial by the Company.

f. The Ërnployee hereby represents ¿nd wa¡rants to the Company that (í) ) tbe
Employee is not subject to any re.striction, sontractual or otherwisq which prevents the Employee from
enter¡ng ir¡to, and carrying out its obl¡gations undern this AgreemenÊ (íi) the ËmployeË strall not make use
of any confidential information belonging to arry third parry in connection with perforrning Employee's
obligations hereunder, (iii) neitherthe execution and delívery ofthis Agreernent nortfte consummat¡on of
the tansactions contamplated hereby will constitr¡te a violation or default of any tÞrm or provision of any
contuact commiunenL indenture or olher agrEËment or restriction (including stafutory, regulatory,
administrative orjudioial restrictions) to which tho Ernployee is a parÈ¡r or is otberwisa subject.

5. Bluefsnsilinq. If any provision of tlris Agreement is found invalid or incapable of
being enforced by reason of any law, rule or public policy, all other provisions shall, neverthelessn remain
in full force and offect, and no provision berein shall be dependent upoû âny other provision.
Notwitbst¡nding anyt}ing to tlre contraty herein, ifany covenaritset forth in Paragraph 2 above is fuund
to be ínvalid or iocapable ofbeing enforced for the reason that the duration thereof is unreasonable, then
úe parties hereto ¿uthoriee any court so doclaring such covenant urrressonable to rewrite tïe s¿me so as
to chånge the duration to the modmum time that ssid courr rnay dcem to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

6. Ç-oveming LaW. The parties agree that this Ageompnt shall be dec¡ned to have been
entsred into in thc State of Connecticut that any question as to the validity, construction, interpretat¡on or
petformanco of this Agreernent shall be governed by the laws ofttre State of Conneqticut wifhout regard
to tlte conflict of laws provisions of such state and that any a¡d all actions or proceedings which may
an'se, directly or in a manner indirectly, f¡om this Agreement or Êom íts breach or non-porforma¡ce shall
bo litigated on¡y in the Federal or State Courts located in tho State ofConnecticut. For purposes of any
such action the parties each hereby consent to thejurisdiction ofany cou¡t in the State ofConnecticut.

7- Bçngfir This Agreemeut shall be binding upon üre heirs, executors, adminísfiators, Iegal
rapresentativos, nomineês, successoË and assigns ofEmployee aad shall ¡nurE fo the benefit ofthe
successors and ¿ssigns ofthe Cornpany. Reference to the Company as used herein shall inolude any
subsÍdiary or affiliate or succcssor in intoresÈ to the Company or any such subsidiary or afiïliate,
including w¡thout limitation, People's Power LLC, Employee aclfiowledges and agreas that tbe
Company's rígftæ hererrnder may be assigned by the Compar¡y to any person or entity, a¡¡d in the event of
such assignment, EmPloyee agre€s that Ernployee shall continue to be bound by tlre covenants sst foÍh
heÉin and such assignee shall thereafter be deemed the "company', hereunder.

8- Emp.-l-oyeç.At ,Wil!. Employee acknowledges that Employee is an employee at will of the
Conpany, *nd that eithor f}¡e Coinpary or Employee may terminate such employment at any tims with or
without cause- Employee's obliggtions he¡çundsr shall survive any such terminition for arry reason.

4
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E{ wrT¡IEss wmREoF', the parties herpfo have executed, or caused a duþ ¿uthorjzed ofiFcerro execurE this Agreement as oft$e date first w¡itten above,

EMPLOYEE:

COMPAï,IY:

PEOPLE'S POTVDR & CAS LI,C

By: r!
0-

fts ManagingMember
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March 4, 2014 

 

People’s Power & Gas 
69 Bank Street 
New Milford, CT 06776  

Attn: David Pearsall 

Our auditors, Stout, Causey & Horning, P.A, are conducting an audit of our financial statements. Please confirm 
directly to them the amount of your note(s) held by us at December 31, 2013, shown by our records as follows:  

 

Date of Note  Due Date   

Unpaid 
Principal @ 
12/31/2013 

Annual 
Interest 

Rate  
Date Interest 
Was Paid to  

Description 
of Collateral 

May 21, 2012  
N/A 

Revolving   $3,507,209 20.25%  
Dec. 31, 
2013  

     Money on 
Deposit & 
Reserves 

 

Please state in the space below whether the above information is in agreement with your records. If it is not, please 
furnish any information you may have that will assist our auditors in reconciling the difference. 

 

Please reply directly to: 
email: cstrucko@scandh.com 
fax: (410) 403-1556 
mail: Stout, Causey & Horning, P.A., 910 Ridgebrook Rd, Sparks, MD 21152, Attn: Christie Strucko 
 
 

Very truly yours, 

 

John Fox 
President 

Forest Capital, LLC 

 

 

 

To: Stout, Causey & Horning, P.A. 

The above information regarding our note(s) payable to Forest Capital, LLC agrees with our records at December 
31, 2013 with the following exceptions (if any): 

  
  
  
   

 



 

 

Signature:    
 
Title:    
 
Date:    

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  















IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND (NORTHERN DIVISION) 

 
FOREST CAPITAL LLC   * 
54 SCOTT ADAM ROAD,  
COCKEYSVILLE, MD  21030,   * 
  

PLAINTIFF,   * 
 

V.      * CASE NO.:       
 

BLACKROCK, INC.     
111 SOUTH CALVERT STREET, SUITE 2700,  * 
BALTIMORE, MD 21202      
      * 
  DEFENDANT.    
      * 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

COMPLAINT 
 

 Plaintiff Forest Capital, LLC (“Forest”), by its attorneys, hereby sues defendant 

BlackRock, Inc. (“BlackRock”), and for its causes of action states: 

NATURE OF ACTION 

1. This is an action to recover amounts owed to Forest by defendant BlackRock by 

virtue of its violation of §§ 9-607 and 9-406 of the Uniform Commercial Code and the resulting 

conversion of the proceeds of certain collateral securing the obligations owing by People’s 

Power & Gas, LLC (“PP&G”) to Forest under that certain Master Factoring Agreement dated 

May 22, 2012, as amended from time to time and together with all related documents (the 

“MFA”). 

2. As set forth below, PP&G defaulted on its obligations to Forest and breached the 

terms of the MFA by failing to maintain the required levels of collateral, by causing an 

overadvance under the MFA in the approximate amount of $1,729,665.45, and by converting 

collateral for its obligations owed to Forest under the MFA.  As a result, PP&G was required to 
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make immediate payment to Forest of all of its obligations under the MFA, and Forest was 

entitled to exercise all of the rights and remedies available to it under the terms of the MFA and 

as a secured party under the UCC.  At the same time, defendant BlackRock violated §§ 9-607 

and 9-406 of the Uniform Commercial Code (the “UCC”) by transferring amounts in excess of 

$1 Million to PP&G – rather than Forest – after receiving express written notice in accordance 

with §§ 9-607 and 9-406 to remit those funds to Forest, resulting in the conversion of that 

collateral and damages to Forest in an amount not less than $1,050,000. 

3. Pursuant to a Stipulation and Order of Settlement dated February 21, 2014 (the 

“Stipulation and Order”), the parties agreed to dismiss a prior action arising out of the same 

facts and circumstances without prejudice, and the Court retained jurisdiction over the parties 

and this matter for purposes of enforcing the Stipulation and Order and resolving any future 

disputes arising out of the same material facts and circumstances.1  In addition to the requested 

monetary relief, Forest now seeks to enforce the terms of that Stipulation and Order. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a)(3), this Court has diversity jurisdiction over this 

case insofar as the matter in controversy exceeds the sum or value of $75,000 and is between 

citizens of different states. 

5. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because, for purposes of venue, 

defendant BlackRock resides within this judicial district. 

6. Pursuant to the Stipulation and Order, Defendants appeared in this action by 

counsel and submitted to the jurisdiction of this Court, and the Court retained “jurisdiction over 

                     
1 The Stipulation and Order was entered by this Court on February 21, 2014 in Case No.: 14-cv-
00156-JFM (Doc. 26). A true and accurate copy of the Stipulation and Order is annexed hereto 
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the parties and this matter for purposes of enforcing this Stipulation and Order of Settlement 

(the ‘Stipulation and Order’) and resolving any disputes arising out of or concerning this 

Stipulation and Order or any subsequently commenced action arising out of the same material 

facts and circumstances.” 

THE PARTIES 

7. Plaintiff Forest is a commercial factor organized and existing under and pursuant 

to the laws of the State of Maryland, with offices located at 54 Scott Adam Road, Cockeysville, 

MD  21030. 

8. Upon information and belief, defendant BlackRock, Inc. (“BlackRock”) is a 

corporation organized and existing under and pursuant to the laws of the State of Delaware, with 

an office located at 111 South Calvert Street, Suite 2700, Baltimore, MD 21202.  Upon 

information and belief, defendant BlackRock regularly transacts business within the State of 

Maryland and regularly contracts to provide goods or services within the State of Maryland.   

9. Upon information and belief, non-party People’s Power & Gas, LLC (“PP&G”) is 

a limited liability company organized and existing under and pursuant to the laws of the State of 

Delaware, with an office located at 69 Bank Street, New Milford, CT 06776.   

10. Upon information and belief, non-party David Pearsall (“Pearsall”) is an 

individual residing at 38 East Woods Road, Roxbury, CT 06783.  Upon information and belief, 

defendant Pearsall is the Chief Executive Officer of PP&G. 

BACKGROUND 

 The Master Factoring Agreement 

11. On or about May 22, 2012, Forest and PP&G entered into that certain Master 

                                                                               

and incorporated herein as Exhibit “A.” 
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Factoring Agreement (the “MFA”) pursuant to which PP&G sold and assigned certain of its 

accounts receivable to Forest, and Forest made certain advances to PP&G.  A true and accurate 

copy of the MFA is annexed hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit “B.” 

12. Pursuant to the MFA, Forest would purchase an Account from PP&G (an 

“Assigned Account”) for an amount equal to the net face amount of the Account less Forest’s 

fees, as such fees may accrue pursuant to the MFA, until paid on collection of the Account (the 

“Purchase Price”).  MFA, ¶¶ 1.2 and 1.3. 

13. Upon Forest’s acceptance of an Assigned Account from PP&G, Forest would 

advance funds to PP&G at the agreed upon advance rates. 

14. Pursuant to Paragraph 7.1 of the MFA, as security for the payment and 

performance of all of PP&G’s obligations to Forest arising under the MFA or otherwise, PP&G 

granted to Forest a security interest in substantially all of PP&G’s assets, including, but not 

limited to, all of PP&G’s Accounts (whether or not accepted by or specifically sold to Forest), 

goods, equipment, all cash and non-cash proceeds, general intangibles, deposit accounts and 

other collateral together with the products of any of the foregoing, and all rights that PP&G has 

to the payment of money not specifically included in the foregoing. 

15. Pursuant to Paragraph 9.2 of the MFA, in the event of a default by PP&G, in 

addition to any other remedies available to Forest under the MFA or applicable law, Forest shall 

have the right to require PP&G to make immediate payment of all of its obligations under the 

MFA and, with respect to the collateral for PP&G’s obligations, to exercise all of the rights of a 

secured party under the UCC.  

PP&G’s Default  

16. Pursuant to the terms of the MFA, PP&G sold and assigned certain accounts 
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receivable to Forest and Forest advanced funds to PP&G. 

17. As an energy service company (“ESCO”), PP&G purchased energy from 

independent service companies (“ISOs”) and then provided energy to end users, using the 

delivery systems of public utilities (“Utilities”). 

18. Generally, the Utilities, on PP&G’s behalf, invoiced the end users for their energy 

use and in most cases, collected payments directly from the end users, deducted the costs for use 

of the Utilities’ delivery systems, and then forwarded the net collections to Forest for the account 

of PP&G. 

19. In order to induce the ISOs to sell energy to PP&G, PP&G was required to 

provide the ISOs with cash deposits as security for PP&G’s energy purchases. 

20. Pursuant to that certain Rider to Master Factoring Agreement between Forest and 

PP&G dated as of May 21, 2012 (as amended from time to time, including, but not limited to, 

that certain Second Amendment to Master Factoring Agreement dated as of November 22, 

2013), Forest agreed to advance PP&G up to seventy-five percent (75%) of the collateral 

amounts required by the ISOs for the purchase of energy by PP&G. 

21. In or about December 2013, as a result of its failure to fulfill various obligations 

under the MFA, PP&G went into default. 

22. Accordingly, by letter agreement dated December 19, 2013, Forest notified PP&G 

of its default under the MFA, and PP&G acknowledged that default.  A true and accurate copy of 

the December 19, 2013 Default Notice is annexed hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit “C.” 

23. By letter dated December 24, 2013 (the “Notification Letter”), in further 

acknowledgement of its default and in exchange for Forest’s agreement to temporarily forbear 

from enforcing certain default remedies, PP&G notified defendant BlackRock that PP&G had 
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granted Forest a security interest in substantially all of PP&G’s assets, including the BlackRock 

Deposits (as defined below) held by BlackRock for the benefit of PP&G, and instructed 

BlackRock to remit to Forest all monies that may be or may become payable by BlackRock to 

PP&G.  A true and accurate copy of the Notification Letter is annexed hereto and incorporated 

herein as Exhibit “D.” 

The BlackRock Account 

24. Upon information and belief, PP&G purchased energy from ISO of New England 

(“NEISO”) for delivery to its customers serviced by Utilities such as, Connecticut Light & 

Power, Bangor Hydro Electric Company, Central Maine Power Company, and others. 

25. Upon information and belief, NEISO required PP&G to maintain funds on deposit 

(“BlackRock Deposits”) in an account with defendant BlackRock (the “BlackRock Account”) to 

secure PP&G’s purchases of energy from NEISO. 

26. PP&G’s obligation to maintain funds on deposit with BlackRock increased during 

periods of high-energy use and decreased during periods of lower energy use, resulting in a 

return of excess BlackRock Deposits to PP&G.  

27. Forest was granted a security interest in the BlackRock Deposits, which interest 

was confirmed in a writing by PP&G to BlackRock.  See Exhibit D, Notification Letter. 

28. The Notification Letter expressly provided that the instructions that any funds that 

may or may become payable by BlackRock to PP&G be paid to Forest, as contained in the 

Notification Letter to BlackRock, could not be changed except by a writing duly executed by 

Forest.  

29. Forest did not change the instructions contained in the Notification Letter. 

30. Upon information and belief, as of December 31, 2013, the balance of the Funds 
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held by BlackRock was approximately $2,097,840.   

BlackRock’s Conversion of Collateral 

31. Upon information and belief, on or about January 13, 2014, BlackRock 

disregarded the clear and unambiguous terms contained in the Notification Letter and, at the 

improper request of David Pearsall, the CEO of PP&G, made a payment directly to PP&G in the 

amount of $750,000 (in clear violation of the Notification Letter), resulting in (i) an additional 

default under the terms of the MFA, (ii) the conversion of those funds by PP&G, Pearsall and 

defendant BlackRock, and (iii) a violation of UCC § 9-607 by BlackRock. 

32. Upon information and belief, on or about January 15, 2014, BlackRock again 

disregarded the clear and unambiguous terms contained in the Notification Letter and, at the 

improper request of Pearsall, made a payment directly to PP&G in the amount of $300,000 (in 

clear violation of the Notification Letter), resulting in (i) an additional default under the terms of 

the MFA, (ii) the conversion of those funds by PP&G, Pearsall and defendant BlackRock, and 

(iii) a violation of UCC § 9-607 by BlackRock. 

33. As a result of the foregoing, PP&G remains in default of its obligations under the 

MFA and Forest is entitled to enforce all of its rights and remedies as a secured creditor and 

available under the MFA or applicable law. 

34. As of the commencement of this action, PP&G is obligated to Forest in an amount 

in excess of $4,606,805.15, plus interest, costs and fees, no part of which has been paid although 

duly demanded.  Forest remains active in its efforts to collect Accounts, as it is authorized to do 

under the MFA and the Stipulation and Order.  Those efforts, however, have been impaired by 

the lack of cooperation by PP&G and by PP&G’s apparent improper billing practices. 

35. By letter dated January 15, 2014, Forest notified PP&G and Pearsall of the 
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foregoing defaults under the MFA and the conversion of the funds on deposit with BlackRock.   

36. In addition, as a result of the foregoing defaults, Forest demanded immediate 

payment of all obligations owing by PP&G to Forest under the MFA.  A true and accurate copy 

of the January 15, 2014 Default Notice is annexed hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit “E.” 

37. Also by letter dated January 15, 2014 (the “Demand Letter”), Forest, by its 

attorney, notified defendant BlackRock of its violation of the terms of the Notification Letter and 

§ 9-607 of the UCC and demanded payment of the funds that were wrongfully converted by 

BlackRock and transferred to PP&G and Pearsall.   

38. In addition, Forest demanded that BlackRock cease and desist from making any 

further wrongful transfers in violation of  the terms of the Notification Letter and § 9-607 of the 

UCC.  A true and accurate copy of the January 15, 2014 Demand Letter is annexed hereto and 

incorporated herein as Exhibit “F.” 

The Stipulation and Order 

39. As indicated above, pursuant to the February 21, 2014 Stipulation and Order, the 

parties agreed to resolve their then existing disputes by stipulating and agreeing to dismiss a 

prior action arising out of the same facts and circumstances – without prejudice – upon the terms 

set forth in the Stipulation and Order, and this Court retained jurisdiction over the parties and 

this matter for purposes of enforcing the Stipulation and Order and resolving any future disputes 

arising out of the same material facts and circumstances. 

40. Pursuant to Paragraph 2 of the Stipulation and Order, the parties agreed that 

“[f]unds held as of January 31, 2014 in the BlackRock Account #34362 (the ‘NEISO Account’) 

as financial assurance for the benefit of ISO New England Inc. (‘New England ISO’) in the 

amount of $522,915.50 will be paid over to Forest for the account of PP&G as released by New 
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England ISO after withholding (i) all amounts on which New England ISO has a claim for 

energy sold to or for the benefit of PP&G, and (ii) up to $25,000 to cover BlackRock’s costs and 

expenses.” 

41. Pursuant to Paragraph 6 of the Stipulation and Order, BlackRock and PP&G were 

required, to the extent possible, to provide Forest with online access to the NEISO Account 

42. In addition, pursuant to Paragraph 9 of the Stipulation and Order, on or before 

March 20, 2014, PP&G was required to “provide Forest with an accounting of all funds 

disbursed to PP&G from the BlackRock Account on and after December 1, 2013.” 

Defendant’s Violation of the Stipulation and Order 

43. Despite the clear and unambiguous terms of the Stipulation and Order, defendant 

BlackRock has failed to comply fully with all of its obligations under the Stipulation and Order. 

44. Although BlackRock withheld the full $25,000 from the NEISO Account to cover 

its legal costs and expenses, it failed to pay over the full balance of the $522,915.50 to Forest, in 

accordance with Paragraph 2 of the Stipulation and Order, or to account for the difference in the 

amount actually turned over to Forest from the NEISO Account.   

45. Instead, BlackRock only turned over $285,000 from the NEISO Account to 

Forest, without explanation or any form of accounting. 

46. In addition, BlackRock has failed or refused to provide Forest with online access 

to the NEISO Account in accordance with Paragraph 6 of the Stipulation and Order. 

Count One 
 (Conversion) 

 
47. Forest repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as if fully set forth at length hereat. 
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48. As set forth above, pursuant to the December 24, 2013 Notification Letter, PP&G 

notified defendant BlackRock that PP&G had granted Forest a security interest in substantially 

all of PP&G’s assets, including the BlackRock Deposits held by BlackRock in the BlackRock 

Account for the benefit of PP&G, and instructed BlackRock to remit to Forest all monies that are 

or become payable by BlackRock to PP&G.    

49. The Notification Letter expressly provides that the instructions to BlackRock 

could not be changed except by a writing duly executed by Forest.  

50. Forest has not changed the instructions contained in the Notification Letter. 

51. Upon information and belief, BlackRock blatantly disregarded the terms of the 

Notification Letter and made transfers from the BlackRock Account directly to PP&G, including 

a payment in the amount of $750,000 on or about January 13, 2014 and a payment in the amount 

of $300,000 on or about January 15, 2014. 

52. The foregoing transfers by BlackRock to PP&G at the request of Pearsall, despite 

the clear instructions in the Notification Letter, amount to conversion by defendant BlackRock. 

53. Despite due demand, defendant BlackRock has failed to turn over the converted 

funds to Forest. 

54. As a result of the foregoing, Forest is now entitled to a judgment against 

defendant BlackRock in an amount to be determined by the Court and now estimated to exceed 

$1,050,000, together with interest as provided by law and the costs and expenses of this action, 

including Forest’s reasonable attorney’s fees. 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff Forest Capital, LLC respectfully requests that this Court enter an 

order:  
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(a) Granting judgment in its favor and against Defendant BlackRock, Inc., in 

an amount to be determined by the Court and now estimated to exceed 

$1,050,000, together with interest as provided by law and the costs and 

expenses of this action, including Forest’s reasonable attorney’s fees; and  

(b) Awarding such other, further and different relief as this Court may deem 

just and proper, together with the costs and disbursements of this action. 

Count Two 
(Violation of UCC § 9- 607) 

55. Forest repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as if fully set forth at length hereat. 

56. Despite the clear and unambiguous language contained in the Notification Letter, 

BlackRock transferred funds from the BlackRock Account directly to PP&G in violation of § 9-

607 of the UCC, including the $750,000 payment by BlackRock to PP&G on or about January 

13, 2014 and the $300,000 payment by BlackRock to PP&G on or about January 15, 2014. 

57. The foregoing transfers by BlackRock amount to a violation of § 9-607 of the 

UCC. 

58. As a result of the foregoing, Forest has been damaged in an amount to be 

determined by the Court and now estimated to exceed $1,050,000. 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff Forest Capital, LLC respectfully requests that this Court enter an 

order:  

(a) Granting judgment in its favor and against defendant BlackRock, Inc. in 

an amount to be determined by the Court and now estimated to exceed 
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$1,050,000, together with interest as provided by law and the costs and 

expenses of this action, including Forest’s reasonable attorney’s fees; and  

(b) Awarding such other, further and different relief as this Court may deem 

just and proper, together with the costs and disbursements of this action. 

Count Three 
(Violation of UCC § 9- 406) 

59. Forest repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as if fully set forth at length hereat. 

60. MD Code, Commercial Law § 9-406 (a) provides in relevant part: 

[A]n account debtor on an account … or a payment intangible may discharge its 
obligation by paying the assignor until, but not after, the account debtor receives a 
notification, authenticated by the assignor or the assignee, that the amount due or 
to become due has been assigned and that payment is to be made to the assignee.  
After receipt of the notification, the account debtor may discharge its obligation 
by paying the assignee and may not discharge the obligation by paying the 
assignor. 
 
61. The Notification Letter constitutes notice to BlackRock of the assignment to 

Forest of all amounts due or that may become due to PP&G from the BlackRock Account, in 

accordance with § 9-406. 

62. Despite the clear and unambiguous language contained in the Notification Letter, 

BlackRock paid funds from the BlackRock Account directly to PP&G in violation of § 9-406 of 

the UCC, including the $750,000 payment by BlackRock to PP&G on or about January 13, 2014 

and the $300,000 payment by BlackRock to PP&G on or about January 15, 2014. 

63. Any payment that BlackRock made to PP&G, the assignor, did not discharge it 

from its obligation to pay Forest, the assignee. 

64. As a result of the foregoing, Forest has been damaged in an amount to be 
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determined by the Court and now estimated to exceed $1,050,000. 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff Forest Capital, LLC respectfully requests that this Court enter an 

order:  

(a) Granting judgment in its favor and against defendant BlackRock, Inc. in 

an amount to be determined by the Court and now estimated to exceed 

$1,050,000, together with interest as provided by law and the costs and 

expenses of this action, including Forest’s reasonable attorney’s fees; and  

(b) Awarding such other, further and different relief as this Court may deem 

just and proper, together with the costs and disbursements of this action. 

Count Four 
(Accounting) 

65. Forest repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained in the foregoing 

paragraphs as if fully set forth at length hereat. 

66. As set forth above, as security for the payment and performance of all of PP&G’s 

obligations to Forest arising under the MFA or otherwise, PP&G granted to Forest a security 

interest in substantially all of PP&G’s assets, including, but not limited to, all of PP&G’s 

Accounts, whether or not accepted by or specifically sold to Forest, goods, equipment, all cash 

and non-cash proceeds, general intangibles, deposit accounts and other collateral together with 

the products of any of the foregoing, and all rights that PP&G has to the payment of money not 

specifically included in the foregoing. 

67. As set forth above, Forest has a security interest in all funds held in the 

BlackRock Account and all funds in the BlackRock Account that are or become payable to 

PP&G are required to be paid to Forest. 
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68. The February 21, 2014 Stipulation and Order constitutes a contract between 

Forest and BlackRock. 

69. Pursuant to Paragraph 2 of the Stipulation and Order, the parties agreed that 

“[f]unds held as of January 31, 2014 in the BlackRock Account #34362 (the ‘NEISO Account’) 

as financial assurance for the benefit of ISO New England Inc. (‘New England ISO’) in the 

amount of $522,915.50 will be paid over to Forest for the account of PP&G as released by New 

England ISO after withholding (i) all amounts on which New England ISO has a claim for 

energy sold to or for the benefit of PP&G, and (ii) up to $25,000 to cover BlackRock’s costs and 

expenses.” 

70. Pursuant to Paragraph 6 of the Stipulation and Order, BlackRock was required to 

provide Forest with online access to the NEISO Account 

71. Despite the clear and unambiguous terms of the Stipulation and Order, defendant 

BlackRock has failed to comply fully with all of its obligations under the Stipulation and Order. 

72. Although BlackRock withheld the full $25,000 from the NEISO Account to cover 

its costs and expenses, it breached Paragraph 2 of the Stipulation and Order by failing to pay 

over to Forest the full balance of the $522,915.50 that it had represented was being held in the 

NEISO Account, and has failed to account to Forest for the difference in the amount actually 

paid over to Forest.  

73. At the same time, BlackRock has failed or refused to provide Forest with online 

access to the NEISO Account in accordance with Paragraph 6 of the Stipulation and Order. 

74. The exact value of the funds in the BlackRock Account and the dollar amount of 

the funds disbursed by BlackRock to PP&G from the BlackRock Account are unknown by 

Forest. 
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75. Upon information and belief, upon receipt of a proper accounting, the amount 

owed by BlackRock to Forest in connection with the BlackRock Account will exceed the amount 

of $1,050,000.00. 

76. Despite due demand therefor, defendant BlackRock has failed or refused to 

provide Forest with an accounting with respect to the BlackRock Account. 

77. Defendant BlackRock has also failed or refused to pay all amounts owed to Forest 

from the BlackRock Account.   

78. As a result of the foregoing, Forest is entitled to a judgment directing defendant 

BlackRock to render a full accounting of all funds disbursed to PP&G from the BlackRock 

Account and ordering BlackRock to pay Forest all sums found due pursuant to such an 

accounting. 
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WHEREFORE, plaintiff Forest Capital, LLC respectfully requests that this Court enter an 

order:  

(a) Directing defendant BlackRock to render a full accounting of all funds 

disbursed to PP&G from the BlackRock Account and ordering BlackRock 

to pay Forest all sums found due pursuant to such an accounting; and  

(b) Awarding such other, further and different relief as this Court may deem 

just and proper, together with the costs and disbursements of this action. 

 

 

Dated: May 8, 2014 
 
    LEITESS FRIEDBERG PC 
 
    /s/ Jeremy S. Friedberg   
    Jeremy S. Friedberg  (Bar No. 10638) 

Pierce C. Murphy (Bar No. 30030) 
Leitess Friedberg PC 
10451 Mill Run Circle, Suite 1000 
Baltimore, Maryland 21117 
(410) 581-7400 
Jeremy.friedberg@lf-pc.com 
Pierce.murphy@lf-pc.com 
 
And  
 

    RUSKIN MOSCOU FALTISCHEK, P.C. 
 

Jeffrey A. Wurst 
Robert F. Regan 

    1425 RXR Plaza 
    East Tower, 15th Floor 
    Uniondale, New York 11556 
    (516) 663-6600 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Forest Capital LLC 

#593748 
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 

 DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT 

 BRIDGEPORT DIVISION  

 
      *   

 
IN RE: PEOPLE’S POWER &  * CASE NO.  14-50574 AHWS 
GAS, LLC      CHAPTER 7 
      * 
  ALLEGED DEBTOR    
      * 
RICHARD B. POLIVY 
MOVANT 
 

MOTION FOR ADMISSION OF ATTORNEY PRO HAC VICE 
 

  Richard B. Polivy, Esq., requests that Jeffrey A. Wurst, Esq., primary counsel for Forest Capital 

LLC, be admitted pro hac vice to this Court to assist in the presentation of the matter on behalf of 

Forest Capital LLC, pursuant to Local Rule 83.1(d) of the Local Rules of Civil Procedure for the 

United States District Court for the District of Connecticut.  Movant has known Attorney Wurst 

professionally for over twenty years.   

1. The statements made herein are made in reliance of the representations made by 

Attorney Wurst in his Affidavit (“Affidavit”). 

2. Attorney Wurst is a member in good standing and admitted to practice law in the 

courts of the State of New York, having been admitted to practice before the Appellate Division 

of the Supreme Court of the State of New York, Second Department, at the November 1987 

Term (New York State Courts do not assign Bar Numbers).  His Bar Numbers for each 

jurisdiction of admission are set forth in Paragraph 4 of this Motion. 
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3. Attorney Wurst’s address, telephone number, fax number and e-mail are as 

follows: 

  Ruskin Moscou Faltischek, P.C. 
  1425 RXR Plaza 
  East Tower, 15th Floor 
  Uniondale, NY 11556 
  (516) 663-6535 
  (516) 663-6735 (fax) 
  jwurst@rmfpc.com 

 

4. Attorney Wurst is also admitted to practice before: (a) the Second Circuit Court of 

Appeals, having been admitted on December 8, 1998; (b) the Third Circuit Court of Appeals, 

having been admitted on March 18, 2009; (c) the United States District Courts for the: (i) Eastern 

District of New York, having been admitted on February 3, 1988 (Bar Number: JAW 9744; (ii) 

Southern District of New York, having been admitted on February 11, 1988 (Bar Number: JAW 

9744); (iii) Northern District of Texas, having been admitted on September 15, 1994 (Bar 

Number: JAW 9744); (iv) Northern District of New York, having been admitted March 25, 1997 

(Bar Number 508814); (v) Western District of New York, having been admitted on March 25, 

1997 (Bar Number: JAW 9744); and (vi) Eastern District of Michigan, having been admitted on 

May 16, 2007 (Bar Number: JAW 9744); and (vii) the United States Bankruptcy Court for the 

Western District of New York, having been admitted on June 5, 2009 (Bar Number: JAW 9744). 

5. There are no pending or prior disciplinary complaints against Attorney Wurst. 

6. Attorney Wurst has never been denied admission to, been disciplined by, resigned 

from, surrendered his license to practice before, or withdrawn an application for admission to 

practice before this Court or any other court. 

7. Attorney Wurst has reviewed and is familiar with the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, the Local Rules of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Connecticut, 

  2
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8. Attorney Wurst designates the undersigned as his agent for service of process and 

the District of Connecticut as the forum for the resolution of any dispute arising out of his 

admission.   

9. The undersigned  is a member in good standing of the bar of this Court, and, as 

the sponsoring attorney, will serve as the proposed visiting attorney’s agent for service of 

process. 

10. The $75.00 fee for admission pro hac vice is being paid contemporaneously with 

the filing of this motion. 

Dated: May 9, 2014 

Respectfully Submitted: 
MOVANT 
 
/s/_Richard B. Polivy             
Richard B. Polivy, Esq. 
Federal Bar No. CT 07336 
rpolivy@aol.com 
Polivy & Taschner, LLC 
6 Central Row 
Hartford, CT 06103 
Telephone No. (860) 560-1180 
Fax No. (860) 560-1354 

 
 
#593069 
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 

 DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT 

 BRIDGEPORT DIVISION  

 
      *   

 
IN RE: PEOPLE’S POWER &  * CASE NO.  14-50574 AHWS 
GAS, LLC      CHAPTER 7 
      * 
  ALLEGED DEBTOR    
      * 
 

NOTICE OF APPEARANCE AND 
REQUEST FOR NOTICES AND SERVICE OF PAPERS 

 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Forest Capital LLC, a creditor in interest in the above-captioned 

case, does hereby appear by its counsel indicated below and requests, pursuant to Bankruptcy Rules 

2002, 9007 and 9010 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure, and Sections 102(1) of Title 11 

of the United States Bankruptcy Code, that all notices given or required to be given in connection 

with the above-captioned Chapter 7 case and all papers served or required to be served in 

connection with the above-captioned Chapter 7 case be given and served upon the Undersigned at 

the address set forth below: 

    
Richard B. Polivy, Esq.  
Polivy & Taschner, LLC            
P.O. Box 230294            
Hartford, CT  06123-0294            
(860) 560-1180            
Email Address:rpolivy@aol.com 
Federal Bar No. ct07336 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case 14-50574    Doc 5    Filed 05/09/14    Entered 05/09/14 15:44:09    Desc Main
 Document      Page 1 of 2



  2

Dated at Hartford, Connecticut this 9th day of May, 2014. 
 
 
 
     
    By:  /S/ Richard B. Polivy  
     Richard B. Polivy, Esq. 
     Counsel for Forest Capital LLC 
     Polivy & Taschner, LLC 
     Six Central Row 
     Hartford, CT 06103 
     (860) 560-1180 
     Federal Bar No. ct07336 
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
 DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT 
 BRIDGEPORT DIVISION  

 
         

 
IN RE: PEOPLE’S POWER &  : CASE NO.  14-50574 (AHWS) 
GAS, LLC     : CHAPTER 7 
DEBTOR     : 
      : 
      : 
FOREST CAPITAL, LLC   : 
MOVANT     : 
      : 
VS.      : 
      :  
PEOPLE’S POWER & GAS, LLC  : 
RESPONDENT    : 
-------------------------------------------------------: 

 
MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF FOREST  
CAPITAL LLC’S MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM THE  

AUTOMATIC STAY 
 

Forest Capital LLC (“Forest”), a party in interest and a secured creditor of 

People’s Power & Gas, LLC (the “Debtor” or “PP&G”), by and through its counsel, 

Polivy & Taschner, LLC, respectfully submits this Memorandum of Law in support of its 

Motion for Relief From the Automatic Stay. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

As set forth below and in the accompanying declaration of John Fox (“Fox 

Declaration”), immediate relief is necessary in order to preserve the Debtor’s assets (for 

the benefit of all creditors) and to prevent further waste of the accounts receivable 

arising out of the energy products sold by or on behalf of the Debtor – both the accounts 

that were sold and assigned by the Debtor to Forest (the “Assigned Accounts”) and the 
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accounts that now serve as collateral (the “Collateral Accounts”) for the Debtor’s 

outstanding obligations to Forest, as its primary secured creditor.   

Pursuant to a certain Master Factoring Agreement dated May 22, 2012 (the 

“MFA”), PP&G sold and assigned certain of its accounts receivable to Forest, and 

Forest advanced funds to PP&G.  As security for PP&G’s obligations to Forest under 

the MFA or otherwise (the “Obligations”), PP&G granted Forest a security interest in 

and to all or substantially all of PP&G’s assets, including, but not limited to, PP&G’s 

accounts receivable, whether or not purchased by Forest (the “Collateral”).  In addition, 

pursuant to the MFA, PP&G granted Forest full authority to collect PP&G’s accounts 

receivable (whether or not purchased by Forest) and full access to PP&G’s books and 

records (whether written or electronically recorded) for purposes of collecting those 

accounts. 

Following certain acknowledged defaults by PP&G of its Obligations under the 

MFA in or about December 2013, Forest exercised its rights as a duly-perfected 

secured creditor and notified PP&G’s account debtors of their obligation to make 

payments directly to Forest in accordance with § 9-607 of the UCC.  Thereafter, Forest 

commenced an action against PP&G in the United States District Court for the District of 

Maryland to enforce its rights under the MFA and under the UCC, as a first-priority, 

secured creditor of PP&G.  Pursuant to a Stipulation and Order of Settlement dated 

February 21, 2014 (the “Stipulation and Order”), the parties agreed to resolve their then-

existing disputes by dismissing the Complaint without prejudice upon the terms and 

conditions set forth in the Stipulation and Order. 
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Pursuant to the Stipulation and Order, Forest – rather than PP&G – has the 

exclusive right to collect all accounts receivable arising out of energy sold or delivered 

by or on behalf of PP&G prior to February 1, 2014, as either the assignee and owner of 

those accounts or as a secured creditor following PP&G’s pre-petition default.  As a 

result of PP&G’s erroneous billing practices (as described in the Fox Declaration), 

numerous invoices for PP&G’s energy services included unauthorized fees or were 

otherwise incorrect, and a number of utilities and/or public utility commissions have 

notified Forest that the erroneous charges need to be corrected before Forest can bill 

and collect for those services.  In order to correct PP&G’s billing information and collect 

those outstanding accounts, however, Forest requires full access to PP&G’s electronic 

data information systems (“EDI System”).  Unless the appropriate adjustments are 

made and newly generated bills are sent out promptly, those accounts will likely 

become stale – to the detriment of all of PP&G’s creditors.  To date, however, PP&G 

has refused to comply with Forest’s requests for such access.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

The Court has jurisdiction over this Motion pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1334 and 11 

U.S.C. §§ 303 and 701.  This is a core proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157.  Venue 

in this District is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1409(a).  The statutory predicate for the 

relief requested is 11 U.S.C. §§ 105, 303, 362 and 701. 
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PROCEDURAL POSTURE AND PARTIES 

 On or about April 18, 2014, Connecticut Light & Power Company, Yankee Gas 

Services Company, and the United Illuminating Company (collectively, the “Petitioning 

Creditors”), filed an involuntary Chapter 7 petition (the “Petition”) with respect to PP&G, 

the Debtor.  An order for relief has not yet been entered with regard to the Petition.  The 

Debtor has until May 19, 2014 to respond to the Petition. 

Upon information and belief, PP&G, the Debtor, is a limited liability company 

organized and existing under and pursuant to the laws of the State of Delaware, with an 

office located at 69 Bank Street, New Milford, CT 06776.  As an energy service 

company (“ESCO”), PP&G purchased energy from independent service companies 

(“ISOs”) and then provided energy services to end users, utilizing the energy delivery 

systems of public utilities (“Utilities”).  Upon information and belief, David Pearsall 

(“Pearsall”) is the Chief Executive Officer of PP&G. 

 Forest is a commercial factor organized and existing under and pursuant to the 

laws of the state of Maryland, with offices located at 54 Scott Adam Road, Cockeysville, 

MD 21030. Pursuant to the MFA, PP&G sold and assigned certain of its accounts 

receivable to Forest, and Forest advanced funds to PP&G.  Forest is a first-priority, 

secured creditor of PP&G and its security interest in the Collateral is superior to that of 

all other creditors. 

BACKGROUND FACTS 

The facts relevant to this Motion are set forth in the accompanying Declaration of 

John Fox (the “Fox Declaration”) and, where appropriate, are referenced below. 
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THE RELIEF REQUESTED 

A. Forest is Entitled to Relief from the Automatic Stay 

As indicated above, PP&G sold and assigned certain accounts receivable (i.e., 

the “Assigned Accounts”) to Forest and the Assigned Accounts are not property of the 

Debtor’s estate.  In addition, certain of PP&G’s accounts receivable were either never 

assigned to Forest or were repurchased by PP&G in accordance with the MFA and now 

serve as Collateral for PP&G’s outstanding Obligations to Forest (i.e., the “Collateral 

Accounts”).  In light of PP&G’s prepetition default and Forest’s notification to account 

debtors to make all payments to Forest in accordance with § 9-607 of the UCC, under 

both state law and, therefore § 541(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Debtor no longer 

has the right to control the Collateral Accounts or to receive the proceeds thereof. 

In an abundance of caution, however, Forest now seeks relief from the automatic 

stay in order to enable Forest to take all steps necessary to continue to collect both the 

Assigned Accounts and the Collateral Accounts.  In addition, in light of PP&G’s failure to 

fully cooperate in the collection of those accounts, Forest seeks the immediate 

appointment of an Interim Trustee and limited temporary and provisional relief to 

preserve and protect the assets of the Debtor’s estate for the benefit of all creditors. 

The Bankruptcy Code provides that courts “shall grant relief from the automatic 

stay . . . for cause,” after notice and a hearing.  11 U.S.C. § 362(d).  Section 362 of the 

Bankruptcy Code provides in relevant part as follows: 

“(d) On request of a party in interest and after notice and a 
hearing, the court shall grant relief from the stay provided 
under subsection (a) of this section, such as by terminating, 
annulling, modifying, or conditioning such stay  . . . 
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(1) for cause, including the lack of adequate 
protection of an interest in property of such party 
in interest; 

 
(2) with respect to a stay of an act against property 

under subsection (a) of this section, if –  
 
 (A) the debtor does not have an equity in such 
property; and 
 (B) such property is not necessary to an 
effective reorganization; or . . .” 

 
Because § 362 does not define what constitutes “cause” for purposes of granting relief 

from the automatic stay, courts must determine on a case-by-case basis when 

discretionary relief is appropriate.  See, e.g., In re Robbins, 964 F.2d 342 (9th Cir. 1992); 

In re Baptist Medical Center, Inc., 52 B.R. 417 (E.D.N.Y. 1985) (finding that “cause” may 

be found sufficient to vacate stay only when viewed in the context of the totality of 

circumstances).  Cause exists when the stay harms the creditor and lifting the stay will 

not unjustly harm the debtor or other creditors.  See, e.g., In re Opelika MFG. Corp., 66 

B.R. 444 (N.D. Ill. 1986); In re Miller, 2012 WL 6041639 *13 (Bankr. D. Colo. 2012). 

 1. Cause Exists to Lift the Automatic Stay 

Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 362(d)(1), courts shall grant relief from the automatic 

stay for cause, including the lack of adequate protection of an interest in the movant’s 

property.  Here, cause exists to lift the automatic stay pursuant to § 362(d)(1) because 

Forest is being harmed by the continued depreciation in value of both the Assigned 

Accounts and the Collateral Accounts.  At the same time, lifting the automatic stay 

would not harm the debtor or other creditors because PP&G lacks equity in any of the 

accounts. 
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In the present case, the Debtor is in default under the terms and conditions of the 

Master Factoring Agreement (“MFA”) as a result of, inter alia, its failure to pay all 

amounts owed to Forest.  As of April 30, 2014, the total amount due Forest from the 

Debtor pursuant to the MFA is approximately $4,892,138.21, plus interest, costs and 

fees.  Fox Declaration, ¶ 22.  As of the same date, Forest estimates that the face value 

of the uncollected accounts receivable assigned by PP&G to Forest (i.e., the Assigned 

Accounts) was $2,040,000.  Fox Declaration, ¶ 23.  We are advised that an additional 

$1,025,000 in customer payments for accounts assigned to Forest is currently being 

held by certain Utilities.  Fox Declaration, ¶ 23.  PP&G’s remaining accounts receivables 

(i.e., the Collateral Accounts), which were either never assigned to Forest or were 

repurchased by PP&G under the terms of the MFA, but which now serve as part of the 

Collateral for PP&G’s outstanding Obligations to Forest, are of questionable value as a 

result of PP&G’s erroneous billing practices (as described in the Fox Declaration).  See 

Fox Declaration, ¶ 23.  Thus, PP&G’s outstanding obligations to Forest exceed the 

value of the accounts, and Forest’s position is not adequately protected. 

Furthermore, because of PP&G’s failure and/or inability to pay the fees for the 

services of EC InfoSystems, Inc. (“ECI”), the vendor retained to maintain PP&G’s 

electronic data information system (“EDI System”), Forest is unable to correct the errors 

resulting from PP&G’s erroneous billing practices in order to re-bill and collect the 

outstanding accounts – both the Assigned Accounts (which are now owned by Forest) 

and Collateral Accounts (which serve as part of the Collateral for PP&G’s outstanding 

Obligations to Forest).  As a result, the accounts are continuing to depreciate in value 

as they continue to age and go uncollected.  
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Accordingly, Forest lacks adequate protection in the Collateral and cause exists 

to grant Forest relief from the automatic stay. 

2. The Debtor has no Equity in the Collateral and the 
Collateral is Not Necessary for an Effective Reorganization 

 
Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 362(d)(2), with respect to a stay of an act against 

property, the Court shall grant relief from the stay if:  “(A) the debtor does not have an 

equity in such property; and (B) such property is not necessary to an effective 

reorganization”.  11 U.S.C. § 362(d)(2). 

As set forth above, PP&G’s outstanding obligations to Forest exceed the 

combined value of the Assigned Accounts and the Collateral Accounts.  As a result, 

PP&G, as the Debtor in this case, has no equity in the Assigned Accounts (accounts 

assigned to and now owned by Forest) or in the Collateral Accounts (the accounts that 

serve as part of the Collateral for PP&G’s outstanding obligations to Forest).  See, e.g., 

In re Air Vermont, 40 B.R. 335 (Bankr. D. Vermont 1984) (Creditor entitled to relief from 

automatic stay to recover insurance premiums in which it had security interest under 

premium-financing agreement, where debtor had not given creditor adequate protection, 

premiums were not necessary for effective reorganization and debtor had no equity in 

premiums). 

Based upon the foregoing, it is respectfully submitted that Forest is entitled to 

relief from the automatic stay because: (a) the Debtor does not have equity in any of the 

accounts to be collected by Forest; and (b) the accounts, which were either assigned to 

and now owned by Forest or that serve as part of the Collateral for PP&G’s outstanding 

obligations to Forest (and are subject to Forest’s first-priority, security interest), are not 

necessary for an effective reorganization. 
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Accordingly, Forest respectfully request that the Court issue an Order granting 

Forest relief from the automatic stay and (i) permitting Forest to enforce its rights in 

PP&G’s collateral in accordance with the Uniform Commercial Code and other 

applicable law, (ii) authorizing Forest to collect all accounts receivable arising out of 

energy services provided by or on behalf of PP&G prior to February 1, 2014, (iii) 

granting Forest full access to the PP&G’s electronic data information system (“EDI 

System”), (iv) authorizing PP&G’s vendors, including, but not limited to, EC 

InfoSystems, Inc., FreshBooks and/or 2ndSite Inc., to provide Forest with full access to 

the PP&G’s EDI System; (iv) authorizing Forest to sell or otherwise dispose of PP&G’s 

collateral, and (v) authorizing Forest to apply the proceeds of PP&G’s collateral to its 

outstanding obligations to Forest. 

3. To the Extent Forest is not Granted Relief From  
the Automatic Stay, Forest is Entitled to Adequate Protection 

 
In the event that this Court does not grant Forest relief from the automatic stay, 

then it must grant Forest adequate protection by directing the Debtor to make the 

payments owed to Forest pursuant to the MFA. 

11 U.S.C. § 361 provides in relevant part as follows: 

When adequate protection is required under section 362, 363 
or 364 of this title of an interest of an entity in property, such 
adequate protection may be provided by- 
 
 (1) requiring the trustee to make a cash payment or 
periodic cash payments to such entity, to the extent that the 
stay under section 362 of this title, use, sale or lease under 
section 363 of this title, or any grant of a lien under section 
364 of this title results in a decrease in the value of such 
entity’s interest in such property;… 
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 10 

As set forth in the Fox Declaration, the value of both the Assigned Accounts and 

the Collateral Accounts continues to erode as each day passes and they remain 

uncollected, See Fox Declaration, ¶ 58.  The appropriate form of adequate protection is 

payment of the sums owed pursuant to the MFA.  Absent the agreed upon payments, 

Forest’s equity position will continue to erode. 

Based upon the foregoing, in the event that Forest’s request for relief from the 

automatic stay is denied, then Forest is entitled to adequate protection in the form of an 

order directing the Debtor to make the payments owed to Forest pursuant to the MFA. 

NO PRIOR REQUEST 

 No prior request for the relief requested herein has been made to this Court or 

any other court. 

CONCLUSION 

 For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that Forest is entitled 

to relief from the automatic stay.   

Dated: May 12, 2014   MOVANT 
Forest Capital LLC 
 
/s/_Richard B. Polivy             
Richard B. Polivy, Esq. 
Federal Bar No. CT 07336 
rpolivy@aol.com 
Polivy & Taschner, LLC 
6 Central Row 
Hartford, CT 06103 
Telephone No. (860) 560-1180 
Fax No. (860) 560-1354    
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
 DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT 
 BRIDGEPORT DIVISION  

 
         

 
IN RE: PEOPLE’S POWER &  : CASE NO.  14-50574 (AHWS) 
GAS, LLC     : CHAPTER 7 
DEBTOR     : 
            : 
      : 
FOREST CAPITAL, LLC   : 
MOVANT     : 
      : 
VS.      : 
      :  
PEOPLE’S POWER & GAS, LLC  : 
RESPONDENT    : 
-------------------------------------------------------: 

 
MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM AUTOMATIC STAY 

 
 The Movant, Forest Capital LLC (“Forest”), requests pursuant to pursuant to 11 

U.S.C. §362(d) and Rule 4001(a) F.R.B.P., an Order granting relief from the Automatic 

Stay: (1) permitting Forest to enforce its rights in People’s Power & Gas, LLC’s 

(“PP&G”) collateral in accordance with the Uniform Commercial Code and other 

applicable law, (ii) authorizing Forest to collect all accounts receivable arising out of 

energy sold and delivered by or on behalf of PP&G prior to February 1, 2014, (iii) 

granting Forest full access to the PP&G’s electronic data information system (“EDI 

System”), (iv) authorizing PP&G’s vendors, including, but not limited to, EC 

InfoSystems, Inc., FreshBooks and/or 2ndSite Inc., to provide Forest with full access to 

the PP&G’s EDI System; (iv) authorizing Forest to sell or otherwise dispose of PP&G’s 

collateral, and (v) authorizing Forest to apply the proceeds of PP&G’s collateral to its 
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outstanding obligations owing to Forest; or, in the alternative, pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 

361, granting Forest adequate protection. 

 In support hereof, the Movant, Forest, by its undersigned counsel, respectfully 

represents as follows: 

1. The Court has jurisdiction over this Motion pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1334 

and 11 U.S.C. §§ 303 and 701.  This is a core proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157.  

Venue in this District is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1409(a).  The statutory predicate 

for the relief requested is 11 U.S.C. §§ 105, 303, 362 and 701. 

2.    On or about April 18, 2014, Connecticut Light & Power Company, 

Yankee Gas Services Company, and the United Illuminating Company (collectively, the 

“Petitioning Creditors”), filed an involuntary Chapter 7 petition (the “Petition”) with 

respect to the Debtor, PP&G.  An order for relief has not yet been entered with regard to 

the Petition.  The Debtor, PP&G has until May 19, 2014 to respond to the Petition. 

3. Upon information and belief, the Debtor, PP&G, is a limited liability 

company organized and existing under and pursuant to the laws of the State of 

Delaware, with an office located at 69 Bank Street, New Milford, Connecticut 06776.  As 

an energy service company (“ESCO”), PP&G purchased energy from independent 

service companies (“ISOs”) and then provided energy services to end users, utilizing 

the energy delivery systems of public utilities (“Utilities”).  

4. Upon information and belief, David Pearsall (“Pearsall”) is the Chief 

Executive Officer of PP&G. 
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5. The Movant, Forest is a commercial factor organized and existing under 

and pursuant to the laws of the state of Maryland, with offices located at 54 Scott Adam 

Road, Cockeysville, MD 21030.  

6. Pursuant to a certain Master Factoring Agreement dated May 22, 2012 

(the “MFA”), the Debtor, PP&G sold and assigned certain of its accounts receivable to 

the Movant, Forest, and Forest advanced funds to the Debtor, PP&G.  

7. As security for the Debtor, PP&G’s obligations to the Movant, Forest under 

the MFA or otherwise (the “Obligations”), the Debtor, PP&G granted the Movant, Forest 

a security interest in and to all or substantially all of the Debtor, PP&G’s assets, 

including, but not limited to, the Debtor, PP&G’s accounts receivable, whether or not 

purchased by the Movant, Forest (the “Collateral”).  

8. Additionally, pursuant to the MFA, the Debtor, PP&G granted the Movant, 

Forest full authority to collect the Debtor, PP&G’s accounts receivable (whether or not 

purchased by Forest) and full access to the Debtor, PP&G’s books and records 

(whether written or electronically recorded) for purposes of collecting those accounts. 

9. Following certain acknowledged defaults by the Debtor, PP&G of its 

Obligations under the MFA in or about December 2013, the Movant, Forest exercised 

its rights as a duly-perfected secured creditor and notified the Debtor, PP&G’s account 

debtors of their obligation to make payments directly to the Movant, Forest in 

accordance with § 9-607 of the Uniform Commercial Code. 

10.  Thereafter, the Movant, Forest commenced an action against the Debtor, 

PP&G in the United States District Court for the District of Maryland to enforce its rights 
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under the MFA and under the UCC, as a first-priority, secured creditor of the Debtor, 

PP&G.   

11. Pursuant to a Stipulation and Order of Settlement dated February 21, 

2014 (the “Stipulation and Order”), the parties agreed to resolve their then-existing 

disputes by dismissing the Complaint without prejudice upon the terms and conditions 

set forth in the Stipulation and Order. 

12. Pursuant to the Stipulation and Order, the Movant, Forest – rather than 

the Debtor, PP&G – has the exclusive right to collect all accounts receivable arising out 

of energy sold or delivered by or on behalf of the Debtor, PP&G prior to February 1, 

2014, as either the assignee and owner of those accounts or as a secured creditor 

following the Debtor, PP&G’s pre-petition default.   

13. As a result of the Debtor, PP&G’s erroneous billing practices (as 

described in the Fox Declaration), numerous invoices for the Debtor, PP&G’s energy 

services included unauthorized fees or were otherwise incorrect, and a number of 

utilities and/or public utility commissions have notified the Movant, Forest that the 

erroneous charges need to be corrected before the Movant, Forest can bill and collect 

for those services.   

14. In order to correct the Debtor, PP&G’s billing information and collect those 

outstanding accounts, however, the Movant, Forest requires full access to the Debtor, 

PP&G’s electronic data information systems (“EDI System”).   

15. Unless the appropriate adjustments are made and newly generated bills 

are sent out promptly, those accounts will likely become stale – to the detriment of all of 

Debtor, PP&G’s creditors.   
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16. To date, however, the Debtor, PP&G has refused to comply with the 

Movant, Forest’s requests for such access. 

17. The Movant, Forest is a first-priority secured creditor of the Debtor, PP&G 

and its security interest in the Collateral is superior to that of all other creditors. 

18.   As set forth below and in the accompanying declaration of John Fox 

(“Fox Declaration”), immediate relief is necessary in order to preserve the Debtor, 

PP&G’s assets (for the benefit of all creditors) and to prevent further waste of the 

accounts receivable arising out of the energy products sold by or on behalf of the 

Debtor, PP&G – both the accounts that were sold and assigned by the Debtor, PP&G to 

the Movant, Forest (the “Assigned Accounts”) and the accounts that now serve as 

collateral (the “Collateral Accounts”) for the Debtor, PP&G’s outstanding obligations to 

the Movant, Forest, as its first priority secured creditor.  

19. No prior applications for the relief requested herein have been made.  

  WHEREFORE, the Movant, Forest Capital LLC respectfully requests that the 

Court issue an Order, pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §362(d)(1), granting relief from automatic 

stay in stay so that it may: (i) enforce its rights in the Debtor, PP&G collateral in 

accordance with the Uniform Commercial Code and other applicable law, (ii) collect all 

accounts receivable arising out of energy sold and delivered by or on behalf of the 

Debtor, PP&G prior to February 1, 2014, (iii) be allowed full access to the Debtor, 

PP&G’s electronic data information system (“EDI System”), (iv) authorize the Debtor, 

PP&G’s vendors, including, but not limited to, EC InfoSystems, Inc., FreshBooks and/or 

2ndSite Inc., to provide the Movant, Forest with full access to the Debtor, PP&G’s EDI 

System; (iv) sell or otherwise dispose of the Debtor, PP&G’s collateral, and (v) apply the 

proceeds of the Debtor, PP&G’s collateral to its outstanding obligations owing to the 

Movant, Forest; and (vi) such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 
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 Dated at Hartford, Connecticut on May 12, 2014. 
 

Respectfully Submitted: 
MOVANT 
Forest Capital LLC 
 
/s/_Richard B. Polivy             
Richard B. Polivy, Esq. 
Federal Bar No. CT 07336 
rpolivy@aol.com 
Polivy & Taschner, LLC 
6 Central Row 
Hartford, CT 06103 
Telephone No. (860) 560-1180 
Fax No. (860) 560-1354 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND (NORTHERN DIVISION) 

 

FOREST CAPITAL LLC, 

PLAINTIFF, 

V. 

BLACKROCK, INC., 

  DEFENDANT. 

 

 

 

CASE NO. 14-01530-JFM 

 

 

DECLARATION IN OPPOSITION TO FOREST CAPITAL LLC’S  

REQUEST TO ENTER DEFAULT AND CROSS MOTION FOR SANCTIONS 

  

  THOMAS E.L. DEWEY, an attorney admitted pro hac vice to practice in this 

Court, declares the following to be true under penalty of perjury pursuant to the provisions of 28 

U.S.C. § 1746: 

1. I am a member of Dewey Pegno & Kramarsky LLP (“Dewey Pegno”), counsel 

for Defendant BlackRock, Inc. (“BlackRock”).  I submit this declaration in opposition to Forest 

Capital LLC’s (“Forest”) plainly groundless and vexatious request for entry of default.  I also 

submit this declaration in support of BlackRock’s cross-motion for sanctions pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1927, Local Rule 105(8) and the Court’s inherent authority to sanction litigants. 

BlackRock Is Plainly Not In Default 

2. On May 30, 2014, the parties jointly stipulated and agreed “that defendant 

BlackRock, Inc.’s . . . time to answer, move or otherwise respond to plaintiff Forest Capital 

LLC’s Complaint . . . is extended to and including June 4, 2014.”  See Forest’s Declaration in 

Support of Request to Enter Default (“Default Decl.”) Ex. C (the “Stipulation”) (emphasis added). 
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3. On June 4, pursuant to this Stipulation, BlackRock timely moved to stay these 

proceedings.  See Defendant BlackRock, Inc.’s Memorandum of Law in Support of its Motion to 

Stay these Proceedings [Dkt. #14] (the “Stay Motion”). 

4. BlackRock’s Stay Motion plainly and appropriately responded to the Complaint, 

so BlackRock is simply not in default.   

5. In addition to being consistent with the Stipulation, BlackRock’s Stay Motion is 

recognized by federal courts as an appropriate pre-answer motion.  See, e.g., Green Tree Fin. 

Corp.-Alabama v. Randolph, 531 U.S. 79, 83 (2000) (raising no concern that the petitioners filed 

a motion to stay in lieu of an answer at the district court level); Intravascular Research Ltd. v. 

Endosonics Corp., 994 F. Supp. 564, 567 n.3 (D. Del. 1998) (“motions to stay have been 

recognized as tolling the time period for answering a complaint because pre-answer 

consideration of these motions have been found to maximize the effective utilization of judicial 

resources”); Questech Capital Corp. v. Flight Dynamics, Inc., No. 83 Civ. 6986, 1984 WL 327, 

at *1 n.1 (S.D.N.Y. May 7, 1984) (no default awarded for failure to answer complaint because 

motion to stay proceedings “tolled [the] time to answer or otherwise move with respect to the 

complaint”; motion to stay “involves matters of judicial administration” and “is within the 

inherent powers of the court incident to the court’s authority to regulate actions pending before 

it”); see also 5 CHARLES ALAN WRIGHT & ARTHUR R. MILLER, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND 

PROCEDURE § 1360 (3d ed. & Supp. 2010) (characterizing a motion to stay as a pre-answer 

motion). 

6. In fact, Forest responded to BlackRock’s Stay Motion (see Plaintiff’s 

Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for a Stay [Dkt. #15] (“Opp. Stay 

Motion”)) without raising any purported default. 
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7. Moreover, Forest has cited no case law in support of its groundless proposition 

that a motion to stay does not extend a defendant’s time to answer or otherwise move in response 

to a complaint. 

8. Thus, Forest’s request for entry of default must be denied, since BlackRock 

appropriately responded to the Complaint and is not in default.
1
 

Forest Should Be Sanctioned 

9. Forest’s request for entry of a default is a pure waste of judicial and party 

resources for which it should be sanctioned. 

10. 28 U.S.C. § 1927 provides that “[a]ny attorney or other person admitted to 

conduct cases in any court of the United States or any Territory thereof who so multiplies the 

proceedings in any case unreasonably and vexatiously may be required by the court to satisfy 

personally the excess costs, expenses, and attorneys' fees reasonably incurred because of such 

conduct.” 

11. An attorney is liable under 28 U.S.C. § 1927 for attorney’s fees, costs and 

expenses, as well as court’s expenses, for negligent filing and maintenance of frivolous claims 

where counsel’s failure objectively to investigate and assess claims before pursuing them 

multiplied proceedings unreasonably and vexatiously.  Harris v. Marsh, 679 F. Supp. 1204, 1392 

(E.D.N.C. 1987), aff’d in part and rev’d in part on other grounds, 914 F.2d 525 (4th Cir. 1990). 

                                                           
1
 Forest’s request for entry of a default judgment is also contrary to the policy of this Court, which strongly disfavors 

default judgments and strongly favors deciding cases on the merits.  See Tazco, Inc. v. Dir., Office of Workers 

Comp. Program, U.S. Dep’t of Labor, 895 F.2d 949, 950 (4th Cir. 1990) (“The law disfavors default judgments as a 

general matter”); Perlov v. G.D. Searle & Co., 621 F. Supp. 1146, 1147 (D. Md. 1985) (“default judgments are 

generally disfavored in law, and in the absence of any showing of prejudice which plaintiffs suffered as a result of 

the delay, this Court will use its discretion and deny the motion”); Smith & Loveless, Inc. v. Maitland Bros. Co., 

CIV. A. No. HAR 87-2735, 1989 WL 3812, at *3 (D. Md. 1989) (denying entry of default because of “the general 

disfavor in which the courts—including this one—hold the use of default judgments”); see also U.S. v. Shaffer 

Equip. Co., 11 F.3d 450, 462 (4th Cir. 1993) (emphasizing “the strong policy that cases be decided on their merits”).   
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12. In addition to the statutory authority granted by § 1927, a “federal court also 

possesses the inherent power to regulate litigants’ behavior and to sanction a litigant for bad-faith 

conduct . . . [and can] invoke its inherent power in conjunction with, or instead of, other 

sanctioning provisions . . . .”  In re Weiss, 111 F.3d 1159, 1171 (4th Cir. 1997); see also White v. 

Office of the Pub. Defender for the State of Md., 170 F.R.D. 138, 149 (D. Md. 1997) (noting that 

authority of district courts to impose sanctions for bad faith litigation “is governed not by rule or 

statute but by the control necessarily vested in courts to manage their own affairs so as to achieve 

the orderly and expeditious disposition of cases” (citation omitted)). 

13. BlackRock is cognizant of this Court’s admonition in Local Rule 105(8) that 

motions for sanctions pursuant to § 1927 “are not to be filed as a matter of course”; however, this 

case presents a prime example of the sort of wasteful litigation tactics that sanctions are intended 

to discourage. 

14. As discussed above, Forest’s request for entry of a default judgment has no basis 

in law or fact and is plainly contrary to the policy of this Court.  The wealth of federal case law 

from throughout the federal courts (only some of which was cited above) amply demonstrates 

that Forest’s request for default has no support in law and is thus frivolous and in bad faith. 

15. Furthermore, as noted, Forest’s Opp. Stay Motion—filed four days before its 

request for entry of default—makes no mention of any purported default.  Thus, by filing two 

separate motions—one responding to the motion to stay and the other for entry of a default—

Forest has in bad faith unnecessarily “multiplie[d] the proceedings” and done so “unreasonably 

and vexatiously.”  See 28 U.S.C. § 1927. 

16. Thus, this Court should sanction Forest in the amount of costs incurred in 

responding to this frivolous request for entry of default.  See, e.g., Transam Fin. Servs., Inc. v. 
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Cohen, Civ. JFM-05-495, 2005 WL 711794, at *1 (D. Md. Mar. 22,2005) (awarding attorneys 

fees where party engaged in "a pattern of obstructionist tactics"). 

Dated: New York, New York 
July 14,2014 

Respectfully submitted, 

-r<-l)- 7 
Thomas E.L. Dewey 
David C. Gartenberg 
DEWEY PEGNO & KRAMARSKY LLP 
777 Third Avenue 
New York, New York 10017 
Phone: (212) 943-9000 
Fax: (212) 943-4325 

SMITH, GILDEA & SCHMIDT, LLC 
Michael Paul Smith (#23685) 
600 Washington Avenue, Suite 200 
Towson,MD 21204 
Phone: (410) 821-0070 
Fax: (410) 821-0071 

Attorneys for Defendant BlackRock, Inc. 
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

BRIDGEPORT DIVISION 

IN RE: PEOPLE’S POWER & GAS, LLC : CASE NO.  14-50574 (AHWS)
: CHAPTER 7

DEBTOR :
:
:

FOREST CAPITAL, LLC :
: Re: Doc. #9

MOVANT, :
:

VS. :
:

PEOPLE’S POWER & GAS, LLC and :
RICHARD M. COAN, TRUSTEE, :

RESPONDENTS. :
-------------------------------------------------------:

STIPULATED ORDER GRANTING LIMITED RELIEF 
TO LIFT THE AUTOMATIC STAY PURSUANT TO 11 U.S.C. § 362 

TO ALLOW COLLECTION OF CERTAIN ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

Upon the Motion for Relief for Stay [Doc. I.D. No. 9] (the “Motion”) filed by Forest

Capital, LLC (“Forest”), after due notice and a hearing at which all appearing parties

were heard,  upon the consent of the parties indicated below, and the Court finding that

cause (as that term is used in 11 U.S.C. § 362(d)) exists for the granting of the relief

requested herein, it is hereby

ORDERED – 

1. That Richard Coan, Trustee of the Bankruptcy Estate of

Peoples Power & Gas, LLC (the “Trustee”) may utilize the services of

Forest to take all necessary and appropriate action in accordance with the

Uniform Commercial Code or other applicable law to collect all accounts

receivable arising out of the sale and/or the delivery of energy by or on
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behalf of Peoples Power & Gas, LLC (“PPG”) prior to February 1, 2014

(the “Accounts”); and 

2. Forest reserves its right to seek reimbursement of its costs

of collection pursuant to Section 506(b) of the Bankruptcy Code to the

extent authorized under the pre-petition Master Factoring Agreement

entered into between Forest and PPG or pursuant to Section 506(c) of the

Bankruptcy Code; and 

3. All rights to, claims against, liens on, and/or interests in the

Accounts, including, without limitation, the alleged lien rights of Forest,

shall be transferred from the Accounts to the proceeds of the Accounts

with the same validity and to the same extent and order of priority that any

said rights, claims liens, and/or interests may have had on said Accounts 

immediately preceding the commencement of this case and without

prejudice to any party’s rights, claims, liens and interests in or to the

proceeds of the Accounts, without prejudice to the rights of any party in

interest to object to, oppose or contest any alleged rights, claims, liens,

and interests, and subject to any subsequent determination by this Court

of any party’s rights, claims, liens, and/or interests in or to the proceeds of

the Accounts; and 

4. That any objections to (a) the validity or priority of Forest’s

alleged lien or security interest in and to the Accounts; and/or (b) the

595762
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validity of the alleged sale and assignment of the Accounts to Forest shall

be served and filed no later than July 7, 2014; and 

5. That, in aid of effective collection efforts of the Accounts,

PPG is directed to grant the Trustee and Forest (with and under the

supervision of the Trustee) full access to PPG’s electronic data

information system (“EDI System”) and the Trustee shall authorize and

direct PPG’s vendors, including, but not limited to, EC InfoSystems, Inc.,

FreshBooks and/or 2ndSite Inc., to provide Forest with full access and

cooperation to PPG’s EDI System; and 

6. That Forest, on behalf and in the name of the Trustee, PPG

and itself, shall send collection letters to the account debtors for the

Accounts on forms approved by the Trustee; and 

7. That all proceeds of the Accounts collected by Forest

whether, received in Forest’s lockbox account (the “Lockbox”) or

otherwise, shall be transmitted to the Trustee weekly, together with a

detailed accounting of such payments; and 

8. That the Trustee’s authorization to use Forest to collect

Accounts pursuant to this Order shall not include any authorization to

collect funds presently held by Public Service of New Hampshire (“PSNH”)

representing proceeds of PPG’s Accounts held by PSNH (the “PSNH

Funds”), and all parties’ rights and interests in or to the PSNH Funds shall

be reserved without prejudice and subject to a further agreement or a

determination by this Court or another court of competent jurisdiction,

595762

Case 14-50574    Doc 52    Filed 06/17/14    Entered 06/17/14 13:56:23    Desc Main
 Document      Page 3 of 5



provided however that the bankruptcy estate’s rights to the PSNH Funds

shall be determined by this Court; and 

9. That the defined term “Accounts” herein does not include

Account No. 34302 held by BlackRock, Inc. (or a subsidiary thereof) or the

funds contained therein (the “BlackRock Funds”), and all parties’ rights

and interests in or to the BlackRock Funds shall be reserved without

prejudice and subject to a further agreement or a determination by this

Court or another court of competent jurisdiction provided however that the

bankruptcy estate’s rights to the Blackrock Funds shall be determined by

this Court; and 

10. That nothing contained in this Order shall be deemed to limit

or prejudice, in any way, the parties’ right to object to or dispute the

determination of any other party’s rights and interests in or to the

Accounts; and

11. That nothing contained in this Order shall be deemed to limit

Forest’s right to request a full hearing on the Motion or request additional

or further relief with respect to the Accounts of PPG.   

CONSENTED AND AGREED:

Forest Capital LLC

Richard B. Polivy
Richard B. Polivy, Esq.

Richard M. Coan, Chapter 7 Trustee

Richard M. Coan
Richard M. Coan, Esq.

Connecticut Light & Power Company,

595762
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Yankee Gas Services Company and
The United Illuminating Company

Thomas J. Sansone
Thomas J. Sansone

Dated:  June 17, 2014 at Bridgeport, Connecticut

  SO ORDERED:

595762
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Screenshots showing UMAC’s PPG access to see all of our LIPA customers invoices on 03.26.2014. 

 

 

 



 

The screenshots were taken on June 19th 2014 to prove that Forest was able to access ECI once I heard 

that a limited relief from the automatic stay was provided so PPG could not be accused, as it had been 

on multiple occasions of not allowing Forest access to ECI. Although the picture is two days after the 

relief from stay, this shows Forest access permission they were previously granted by ECI and was done 

on February 19th 2014 according to ECI in email that day. Marty Heftland, Frank Debellis, Eileen 

Routhier, Besnik Islami all have unrestricted ECI access as Super Administrators to PPG’s customers and 

account. Therefore since Forest did have ECI even at the time of his initial relief request, John Fox’s lied 

in his declaration when he stated they did not. Although Forest already had view only access throughout 

working with PPG, ECI provides them and warns us in that email on February 19th 2014 that PPG would 

be responsible for anything an unrestricted user does.  
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